Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 6577-6605



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Tetrahedron

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tet

Tetrahedron report number 839

Recent studies on the reactions of α -diazocarbonyl compounds

Zhenhua Zhang, Jianbo Wang*

Beijing National Laboratory of Molecular Sciences (BNLMS), Key Laboratory of Bioorganic Chemistry and Molecular Engineering of Ministry of Education, College of Chemistry, Peking University, Beijing 100871, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 April 2008 Available online 24 April 2008

Contents

1.	Introduction	6577
2.	New developments in the preparation and in situ generation of diazo compounds	6578
3.	Developments of new transition metal catalysts	6579
4.	Insertion reactions	. 6581
	4.1. Catalvtic X–H (X=C. Si. O. S. N. etc.) insertion	6581
	4.2. Asymmetric catalysis in X–H insertion	6583
5.	Cyclopropanation and related reactions	. 6586
	5.1. Catalytic cyclopropanation	6586
	5.2. Asymmetric catalysis in cyclopropanation	6588
6.	Ylide formation and related reactions	. 6590
	6.1. Sulfonium ylides	6590
	6.2. Oxonium vides	6591
	6.3. Ammonium ylides	6591
	6.4. Carbonyl and azomethine ylides	6592
	6.5. Halonium ylides	6593
7.	1,2-Migration and Wolff rearrangement	. 6593
	7.1. 1,2-Migration	6593
	7.2. Wolff rearrangement and related reactions	6594
8.	Reactions with α-diazocarbonyl compounds as nucleophiles	. 6596
9.	Miscellaneous reactions	. 6598
	9.1. Diazocarbonyl compounds as 1,3-dipoles in [3+2] cycloaddition	6598
	9.2. Dimerization, olefination, and oligomerization and polymerization of diazocarbonyl compounds	6599
	9.2.1. Dimerization of diazocarbonyl compounds	6599
	9.2.2. Olefination of diazocarbonyl compounds	6599
	9.2.3. Oligomerization and polymerization of diazocarbonyl compounds	6600
10.	Concluding remarks	. 6601
	Acknowledgements	6601
	References and notes	6601
	Biographical sketch	6605

1. Introduction

The chemistry of diazo compounds has a long history. It has attracted attention because of their various useful applications in organic synthesis. In particular, they have been used extensively as precursors of metal carbenes. Usually, α -diazocarbonyl compounds

Tetrahedron

^{*} Corresponding author. Fax: +86 10 6275 1708. *E-mail address:* wangjb@pku.edu.cn (J. Wang).

^{0040-4020/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2008.04.074

are easy to prepare and can be handled without difficulty in the laboratory. On the other hand, α -diazocarbonyl compounds have a diverse reactivity. Particularly, they can be decomposed by transition metal complexes to generate Fischer-type metal carbene intermediates, which can subsequently undergo diverse transformations, including X-H (X=C, O, S, N, etc.) insertion, cyclopropanation, ylide formation, and 1,2-migration. Recently, olefination and polymerization of α -diazocarbonyl compounds have also been reported, demonstrating new possible applications. In addition to these transition metal-catalyzed transformations, α diazocarbonyl compounds undergo various reactions under thermolytic and photolytic conditions. They can be used as nucleophiles in nucleophilic addition reactions. The rich chemistry of diazo compounds has been investigated and explored extensively over the past decades. Those studies have been summarized in several excellent and comprehensive reviews.¹ This report will focus on the most recent advances in this area, which primarily covers the literature published since 2003. Because of their close relation with αdiazocarbonyl compounds, some reactions with alkyl or aryl diazo compounds are also covered in this report.

2. New developments in the preparation and in situ generation of diazo compounds

Since the first synthesis of ethyl diazoacetate in 1883 from glycine through diazotization, various methodologies have been developed and there are now several well-established procedures for preparing different types of diazocarbonyl compounds. Some recent advances are reviewed in this report.

Acylation of diazomethane by reaction of diazomethane with acyl halides or anhydrides and diazo transfer of an azide reagent to the carbon adjacent to a carbonyl group are two basic methods to synthesize diazocarbonyl compounds. Despite the hazardous nature of diazomethane, the former remains the single most important route to acyclic terminal α -diazoketones. Efforts have been made to activate the acids under milder reaction conditions.² Addition of NBS to triphenylphosphine and carboxylic acids can generate an acylphosphonium salt, which reacts with diazomethane to afford α -diazoketones (Scheme 1).³ The reaction conditions are mild and various functional groups are tolerated.



Scheme 1.

New diazo group transfer reagents and procedures have been developed recently. Charette and co-workers used the highly electron-deficient trifluoromethanesulfonyl azide **1** in the preparation of α -nitro- α -diazocarbonyl compounds, α -cyano- α -diazocarbonyl compounds, and α -sulfonyl- α -diazocarbonyl compounds.⁴ Since diazo compounds are relatively unstable, it is desirable to improve the work-up procedure after diazo transfer. For this purpose, a polymer-bound sulfonyl azide has been employed as diazo transfer reagent. Flynn and Hanson have reported the development of a high-load, soluble oligomeric benzenesulfonyl azide **2**.⁵ The diazo transfer is efficient and the insoluble sulfonamide byproduct can be completely removed by a single filtration through a silica gel SPE cartridge. This method is particularly valuable when highly unstable α -diazocarbonyl compounds have to be prepared.



Bräse and Schroen designed and synthesized various polymerbound diazonium salts. These diazonium salts were used for directly converting α -amino esters into α -diazoacetic esters (Scheme 2).⁶



Scheme 2.

Direct diazo transfer to the methylene group that is only activated by a single carbonyl group usually requires strong base such as LDA to deprotonate. An indirect method is to convert the ester or ketone into the corresponding α -formylated carbonyl compounds, followed by a deformylating diazo transfer. α -Benzoylation and α -trifluoroacetylation are also utilized in this transformation. Recently, Taber and co-workers have modified their α -benzoylation-based diazo transfer process by using a TiCl4-mediated benzoylation of an ester. The diazo transfer can be carried out to the crude benzoylated ester (Scheme 3).⁷



When the diazo group is not stabilized by an adjacent carbonyl group, the corresponding diazo compounds are usually not stable. In such cases, an in situ diazo generation strategy has to be applied. Based on the Bamford–Stevens tosylhydrazone decomposition, tosylhydrazone salts have been successfully used for the generation of diazo compounds under mild conditions. The diazo compounds thus generated in situ can be coupled with various reactions, including transition metal-catalyzed reactions (Scheme 4).⁸



Diazo compounds can also be generated in situ from precursors other than tosylhydrazone salts. Stoltz and May reported a highly stereoselective tandem rhodium-catalyzed Bamford–Stevens/ Claisen reaction of *N*-aziridinylimines (Scheme 5).⁹ The diazo compound generated in situ by thermal reaction of *N*-aziridinylimines was catalyzed by $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ to generate Rh(II) carbene intermediates, which were followed by a 1,2-hydrogen shift to afford *Z*-enol ethers. Further thermal Claisen rearrangement occurred from allylic enol ethers.



Myers and Furrow developed a general procedure for the esterification of carboxylic acids with diazoalkanes. The diazoalkanes were generated in situ by the oxidation of *N-tert*-butyldimethylsilylhydrazones **3**, which were easily generated from aldehydes, by reaction with (difluoroiodo)benzene **4** (Scheme 6).¹⁰ The procedure can be applied to a wide range of diazo precursors and carboxylic substrates.



Cuevas-Yañez and co-workers have reported the N-alkylation of 1*H*-imidazole by a Cu(acac)₂-mediated reaction of diazoalkanes generated in situ from the corresponding *p*-toluenesulfonate hydrazones (Scheme 7).¹¹ Very recently, Fukuyama and co-workers described a novel synthetic method for the preparation of diazoacetates from the corresponding bromoacetates by treatment with *N*,*N*'-ditosylhydrazine and DBU (Scheme 8).¹²

A deacylative oxidation strategy for the introduction of an alkoxy or amino group into the α -position relative to a carbonyl group was developed by Brodsky and Du Bois. The trifluoroacetylsubstituted carbonyl compounds were used as the precursors for







the generation of diazo compounds. Diazotization with *o*-nitrobenzenesulfonyl azide (*o*-NBSA) by using Cs₂CO₃ as base generated the corresponding α -diazocarbonyl compounds, which were catalyzed by rhodium(II) octanoate [Rh₂(oct)₄] in situ in the presence of an alcohol or amine (Scheme 9).¹³



3. Developments of new transition metal catalysts

Catalyst design remains the central issue in the transition metalcatalyzed reactions of α -diazo compounds. Although Cu(I) and Rh(II) complexes are the two most efficient types of catalysts, other transition metals are also effective in diazo decomposition. Ruthenium,^{14,15} cobalt,¹⁶ chromium,¹⁷ and iron¹⁸ complexes have been extensively exploited in cyclopropanation with diazo compounds. As an example, a ruthenium porphyrin complex [Ru^{II}(TDCPP)(CO)] **5** can efficiently catalyze a three-component coupling reaction of an α -diazo ester with a series of *N*-benzylidene imines and alkenes to form functionalized pyrrolidines **6** in excellent diastereoselectivity (Scheme 10).^{15a}



Very recently, Xiao and Wang have found that the easily available [RuCl₂(*p*-cymene)]₂ can catalyze the reaction of aryl α -diazo-acetates with allyl sulfides. The [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement of sulfonium ylides generated from α -diazocarbonyl compounds and sulfides affords the homo allyl sulfide products **7** in moderate to good yields (Scheme 11).^{15j}



Iron-based complexes have also been utilized in the catalytic N– H insertion reaction of α -diazocarbonyl compounds. Aviv and Gross have reported the synthesis of non-protected amino acid esters from ammonia and diazoacetates with an iron porphyrin catalyst ${f 8}$ (Scheme 12).^{18d}



Silver(I) catalysts have been previously used in the decomposition of α -diazocarbonyl compounds. The Ag(I)-catalyzed reaction usually follows a Wolff rearrangement pathway.¹⁹ Recently, an Ag(I)-catalyzed reaction of α -diazocarbonyl compounds has been found to follow other pathways. Dias and co-workers have reported a silver-catalyzed activation of alkyl halides, which involves silver-carbene intermediates.^{20a} Besides, AgSbF₆ has been found an effective catalyst for the cyclopropanation in the reaction with donor/acceptor-substituted carbenoids (Scheme 13).^{20b} The Ag(I)-catalyzed reaction yielded the cyclopropanation product **9**, which showed a different reaction profile from the Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction. In the latter case, C–H insertion to give **10** is usually dominant.





Gold complexes as soft Lewis acids have attracted considerable attention recently.²¹ Au(I) complexes are normally not effective in diazo decompositions. However, a recent report demonstrated that the Au(I) complex **11** with an *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligand could catalyze the diazo decomposition of ethyl diazoacetate. The cyclopropanation of olefins as well as insertion into N–H and O–H bonds were achieved in this reaction (Scheme 14).²²

Palladium complexes are very important transition metal catalysts for various transformations in organic chemistry, but their applications in the catalytic reactions of diazo compounds have been limited. However, there is growing interest in this field recently.²³ Bröring and co-workers have shown that palladium-carbene complexes are generated from a Pd-catalyzed reaction of diazo compounds.^{23a} Van Vranken and Devine have reported a palladium-catalyzed three-component coupling of vinyl halides, trimethylsilyldiazomethane, and amines, which afforded allylamines 12 as the products (Scheme 15). The mechanism of this novel Pd-catalyzed reaction is suggested to involve the formation of a palladium-carbene intermediate 13 that undergoes migration of the vinyl ligand to the empty p-orbital of the carbene ligand. The resulting η^1 -allylpalladium species is subsequently converted to the η^3 -allylpalladium intermediate **14** that is trapped by the amine nucleophile.23b



Wang and co-workers have observed an efficient Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling of iodides with ethyl diazoacetate (Scheme 16). Remarkably, the diazo moiety remained intact in the reaction. The reaction afforded the cross-coupling products in moderate to good yields, thus providing a new way to introduce a diazo functionality into organic compounds.^{23d}



On the other hand, it has been well documented that the reactivity of metal carbene intermediates is greatly affected by the catalyst ligands. Therefore, new ligands have been designed and applied to the classic Cu(I) and Rh(II) catalysts. Pérez and coworkers investigated the catalytic behavior of Cu(I) catalysts in the diazo decomposition of ethyl diazoacetate with *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands. It was found that [IPrCuCl] (IPr=1,3-bis(diisopropylphenyl)imidazol-2-ylidene) was an effective catalyst for the transfer of carbene from ethyl diazoacetate through cyclopropanation, and O–H and N–H insertion. The homocoupling of diazo compounds, the common drawback for transition metalcatalyzed reactions of diazo compounds, could be largely avoided with this catalyst.²⁴

Rh(II) complexes have proved to be excellent catalysts for diazo compound-based carbene-transfer reactions. Recently, Corey and co-workers synthesized a series of unsymmetrical dirhodium(II) catalysts [Rh₂(RCO₂)_n(L*_{4-n})]. Some of them, such as Rh₂(OAc)(DPTI)₃ (**15**) and Rh₂(*t*-BuCO₂)₂(DPTI)₂ (**16**), are more effective for [2+1]-cyclopropanation reactions, especially in cyclopropenation.²⁵

However, the high price of rhodium impedes its wide use in organic synthesis. Efforts have been made in the past few years to



recycle the Rh(II) catalysts.²⁶ Biffis and co-workers developed a fluorous chiral dirhodium(II) catalyst **17**, which was efficient in cyclopropanation reactions. The catalyst could be easily separated from the reaction mixture and was recyclable. Furthermore, it enabled the use of a reaction protocol without organic solvents besides the reagents and a tiny amount of fluorous solvent.^{26a}

$$\begin{bmatrix} & O \\ N & O \\ O = S = O \\ (CF_2)_7 CF_3 \end{bmatrix}_4$$

Doyle's rhodium(II) carboxamidate complexes are effective chiral catalysts in asymmetric carbenoid transfer reactions. The immobilized chiral Rh(II) carboxamidate complexes **18** have been prepared by the attachment of the ester moiety of the ligand to a polymer backbone (Scheme 17). It was observed that the immobilization of Rh(II) catalysts with mixed ligands had significant influence on the reactivity and stereoselectivity of the Rh(II) carbene in C–H bond insertion and cyclopropanation.^{26b}



Forbes and co-workers have synthesized an ionic liquid metalconjugate **19** (Scheme 18).^{26c} The ligand exchange of acetate with an imidazolium group tethered to a carboxylic acid afforded the Rh(II) carboxylate that covalently bonded to an organic salt. This modified Rh(II) catalyst can be used in ionic liquids as an effective catalyst for the cyclopropanation of styrene using ethyl diazoacetate.

Another strategy to immobilize Rh(II) catalysts is to coordinate the solid support to the axial empty site of the Rh(II) complex. A dirhodium complex has two axial bonding positions. While one axial empty orbital interacts with the diazo carbon to bring dinitrogen extrusion and generation of the Rh(II) carbene, the other axial bonding site may interact with the solvent or a ligand. Pyridine has been known to strongly bond with rhodium. Taking into account these advantages, Davies and co-workers have developed



a strategy to immobilize the Rh(II) catalyst by using highly cross-linked macroporous polystyrene resins with a pyridine attachment. The immobilized catalysts display a similar reactivity and stereoselectivity to their homogeneous counterparts and can be effectively recycled with limited loss in stereoselectivity (Scheme 19).^{26d-f}



4. Insertion reactions

4.1. Catalytic X–H (X=C, Si, O, S, N, etc.) insertion

Together with cyclopropanation, X–H bond (X=C, O, S, N, Si, etc.) insertion is characteristic for metal carbenes. In particular, unfunctionalized C–H bond insertion by metal carbenes provides a very important approach for C–H bond activation (Scheme 20).²⁷ X–H bond insertion of metal carbenes has been extensively investigated and some of these reactions have been used in the total synthesis of complex molecules.²⁸ Several excellent reviews that summarize metal carbene C–H insertion have already appeared.^{1.27} In this section, the most recent selected advances are reviewed.



Intramolecular C–H activation reactions permit remote functionalization through C–C bond formation. This type of reaction presents a general approach for the synthesis of a variety of carbocyclic and heterocyclic structures in a regio- and stereocontrolled manner. It has been well documented that the reactivity of the C–H bond is remarkably affected by electronic and steric factors. In most cases, the formation of a five-membered ring is overwhelmingly predominant. The regio- and stereoselective C–H bond insertion has been employed for the construction of cyclopentanones,^{28a,29} dihydrofuranones,³⁰ γ-lactones,³¹ γ-lactams,³² tetrahydrofurans,³³ and tetrahydrothiophenes³⁴ (Scheme 21).



Although intramolecular 1.5-C-H insertion is overwhelmingly predominant, due to the entropically favorable six-membered transition state, steric or electronic factors may override this entropic preference. 1.4 C-H insertion occurs when the C-H bond is activated by a neighboring heteroatom, in most cases oxygen or nitrogen.^{35,36} And 1,6 C–H insertion has been reported for some structurally rigid systems.^{28c,37} Recently, Wang and co-workers have reported the first example of 1,3 C-H insertion in the Rh(II)mediated reactions of β -tosyl α -diazocarbonyl compounds 20 (Scheme 22).³⁸ This study further demonstrates the dramatic effect of neighboring groups on Rh(II) carbene reactions.



Although rhodium(II) complexes have been proved the most effective catalysts for carbenoid C-H insertion, other metal complexes can also be effective, such as copper or ruthenium complexes. In one example, Yu and Che reported the intramolecular C-H insertion via ruthenium porphyrin or RuCl₂- $(p-cymene)_2$ catalysis.³⁹

Another important development for intramolecular C-H insertion is the application of 'green' solvents. The Rh(II) carbenemediated C-H insertion usually uses less coordinative solvents, such as dichloromethane or 1,2-dichloroethane. Afonso and coworkers demonstrated that Rh(II)-catalyzed intramolecular C-H insertion on α -diazo-acetamides could be achieved effectively in ionic liquids or in water.⁴⁰ The use of water as the solvent in Rh(II) carbene C-H insertion allows a simple work-up of the reaction and recycling of the catalyst. The fact that the highly feasible O-H insertion into water cannot compete with C-H insertion in this case implies that the reaction might actually occur 'on water', rather than 'in water'.

For a long time, the intermolecular reaction has been considered to be of little synthetic utility, because of the poor chemoselectivity. In the past few years, the situation has changed to some extent with the development of the new catalytic systems and the donor/acceptor-substituted carbenoids.1j

Although dirhodium tetracarboxylates are widely used in intramolecular C-H insertion, they are usually less effective in the intermolecular C-H insertion of acceptor-substituted carbenoids. The reaction displays very poor regioselectivity, and carbene dimerization dominates, unless the diazo compound is added very slowly. Even when the target C-H bond is activated by an adjacent phenyl group, vinyl group or heteroatom, the selectivity is still poor.

To avoid carbene dimerization, one strategy is to increase the bulk of the catalyst ligand. Recently, higher yields in intermolecular C-H insertion using bulky copper catalysts have been reported by Pérez and co-workers.⁴¹ In the reaction between ethyl diazoacetate and tetrahydrofuran, the yield of the C–H activation product could be improved to 98% with catalyst **21** (Scheme 23).^{41a} The C–H insertion of alkanes catalyzed by this catalyst also demonstrated a high chemoselectivity, as shown by the reaction with catalyst **22**.^{41b} The main advantage of these catalysts appears to be their extremely bulky nature, yet the catalytic activity still remains. In addition, Pérez and co-workers discovered silver(I) scorpionate⁴² and (NHC)CuCl (NHC=N-heterocyclic carbene)⁴³ catalyst systems for the intermolecular C–H insertion of ethyl diazoacetate.



Donor/acceptor-substituted carbenoids have proved to be superior for intermolecular C-H insertion in terms of chemo-, regio-, and stereoselectivity. Metal carbenes derived from aryldiazoacetates and vinyldiazoacetates have been extensively studied by Davies and co-workers.^{1j,n} Due to the enhanced stability of donor/ acceptor-substituted carbenoids, they are far less susceptible to dimer formation. A recent example is the rhodium-catalyzed C-H insertion reaction of ethyl phenyldiazoacetate 23 into dihydroaromatic compound 24 (Scheme 24). The reaction was highly regioselective and gave a polyfunctionalized aromatic compound 25 after oxidation by DDO.44



In addition to C-H insertion, there have been some new developments in metal carbene heteroatom-H insertion. Catalytic O-H insertion provides a direct entry to C-O bond formation, which can be a useful route to cyclic ethers.⁴⁵ Transition metal-catalyzed O-H insertion is generally considered as a stepwise process via an initial oxonium vlide formation followed by a rapid 1,2-hydrogen shift. However, Hammett correlation data for the electronic effects on Rh(II) carbene O-H insertion favor a concerted reaction pathway.⁴⁶ Recently, an interesting example of Rh(II)-catalyzed three-component reactions of aryldiazoacetates, alcohols, and al-dehydes/imines, reported by Hu and co-workers, provided evidence of oxonium ylide formation for O–H insertion (Scheme 25).⁴⁷ In this case, the proposed oxonium ylide intermediate **26** can be trapped by aldehyde or imine before the 1,2-H shift to generate formal O–H insertion products **27**. The three-component reaction gave **28** or **29** in high yield, and excellent diastereoselectivity was achieved in this reaction very recently.^{47b}



Besides rhodium complexes, O–H insertion can also be catalyzed by other metal complexes. Recently, diruthenium(II)tetrakis(acetate)⁴⁸ and $Tp^{x}Cu^{49}$ have been reported as effective catalysts for O–H insertion. $Tp^{x}Cu$ has also been found to be an effective catalyst for N–H insertion.⁵⁰

The S–H insertion of diazocarbonyl compounds with thiols is a synthetically useful reaction that can introduce a sulfur-containing substituent adjacent to the carbonyl group of ketones or esters. The reactions of thioacetic S-acid with α -diazocarbonyl compounds under conditions of Rh₂(OAc)₄ or BF₃·OEt₂ catalysis have been investigated (Scheme 26).⁵¹ Interestingly, the formation of a C–S or C–O bond is dependent on the catalysts. Catalytic asymmetric S–H insertion reactions of carbenoids were studied, but the enantioselectivity was poor.⁵²



Catalytic N–H insertion is a useful strategy to build a C–N bond, and the mechanism of N–H insertion is probably similar to the mechanism of O–H insertion. Intramolecular N–H insertion is among the most efficient and direct methods yet devised for synthesizing nitrogen heterocycles. A five-membered ring is usually favored in intramolecular N–H insertion, providing pyrrolidine derivatives in good yields.⁵³ On the other hand, there are also examples of metal carbene insertion into 1,4–, 1,6– and 1,7–N–H bonds, which affords four-,⁵⁴ six-,⁵⁵ and seven-⁵⁶ membered nitrogencontaining rings, respectively.

Largely due to the high reactivity of the N–H bond to the metal carbene, intermolecular N–H insertion is usually chemoselective and highly selective over other possible metal carbene processes, such as C–H insertion and dimerization. Thus, this type of metal

carbene insertion is useful in organic synthesis. As an example, Moody and co-workers have reported a new variation of the Robinson–Gabriel synthesis of oxazoles **31**, thiazoles **32**, and 1,3-azoles **33**. In this synthesis, the key intermediate of the 1,4-dicarbonyl compound **30** is obtained by an intermolecular rhodium carbene N–H insertion reaction (Scheme 27).⁵⁷



This approach has been utilized for the synthesis of amino acidderived oxazole building blocks of the natural products, diazonamide A^{58} and amythiamicin D.⁵⁹ Janda and co-workers have further developed a solid-phase variant of these reactions.⁶⁰ The synthesis of indoles in a similar strategy has also been reported.⁶¹ Furthermore, this reaction sequence is an effective method to synthesize oxazolones and other heterocycles when α -diazo- β ketoesters are used as substrates.⁶²

4.2. Asymmetric catalysis in X-H insertion

Asymmetric catalysis in metal carbene X-H insertion continues to be the major focus in this field in the past few years. The three major chiral rhodium(II) catalysts developed in the 1990s,^{1j} namely chiral rhodium(II) carboxamidates 34 introduced by Doyle,⁶³ proline-based chiral rhodium(II) carboxylates 35 developed by the groups of McKervey and Davies,⁶⁴ and phthalimide derivatives of amino acid-based chiral rhodium(II) carboxylates 36 developed by Hashimoto,⁶⁵ have found further applications in asymmetric C-H insertion. Although further elaboration of these well-established catalysts to reach a higher level of reactivity and selectivity continues to be an important part of research activities, more attention has been directed to the application of these catalysts in organic synthesis. Issues such as expanding the substrate scope, application to total synthesis, and development of new synthetic methodologies in connection with other reactions (tandem processes) have been the major focus recently.



Doyle's chiral Rh(II) carboxamidate complexes have been the most successful for the asymmetric intramolecular C–H insertion of acceptor-substituted carbenoids. These catalysts have been extensively used in the asymmetric synthesis of lactones^{63d,g} and lactams.^{63b,c,e,f} An example is the total synthesis of (+)-imperanene

38 via the asymmetric synthesis of γ -butyrolactone **37** by intramolecular C–H insertion catalyzed by Rh₂(4S-MPPIM)₄ (Scheme 28).^{63a}



The chiral Rh(II) carboxamidate complexes are also found to influence the chemoselectivity and regioselectivity of the C–H insertion reactions.^{63d} An interesting observation made by Doyle and co-workers is the Rh₂(4*S*-MEOX)₄-catalyzed asymmetric C–H insertion of diazoamide, which contains a bis(trimethylsilyl)methyl protective group (Scheme 29).^{63c} This is an unusual example in which the chiral catalysts of opposite configuration induce different outcomes with the same achiral substrate. The barrier to equilibrate between the diastereomeric conformations is attributed to this result.



The performance of chiral Rh(II) catalysts may be dramatically modified by the change of electronic properties of the chiral ligands. Hashimoto and co-workers have introduced fluorine into their phthalimide derivatives of amino acid-based chiral rhodium(II) carboxylates. Both the reactivity and enantioselectivity are dramatically enhanced with the fluorinated Rh(II) catalyst, Rh₂[(*S*)-TFPTTL]₄ dirhodium(II) tetrakis[*N*-tetrafluorophthaloyl-(*S*)-*tert*-leucinate]. This catalyst has achieved a very high turnover number (up to 98,000; when R=Me) with only a 0.001 mol% amount, without compromising the yield or enantioselectivity of the process (Scheme 30).^{65b}

Davies and co-workers have recently prepared an adamantylglycine-derived dirhodium tetracarboxylate, $Rh_2(S-PTAD)_4$. This Rh(II) catalyst was found to be very effective for carbenoid reactions and a high asymmetric induction was obtained in intermolecular cyclopropanation (99% ee), intermolecular C–H insertion (92% ee), and intramolecular C–H insertion (95% ee)



(Scheme 31). Interestingly, the chiral ligand, adamantylglycine, itself was synthesized from an $Rh_2(S-DOSP)_4$ -catalyzed C–H insertion reaction of the vinyldiazoacetate with adamantane.^{65e}



Intermolecular C–H insertion by carbenoids is generally more challenging in terms of regio-, chemo-, and stereoselectivity. Moreover, as mentioned earlier, dimerization of the diazo substrate is normally a serious side reaction. In particular, for acceptorsubstituted carbenoids, this problem has, so far, not been solved.

Significant success has been gained in asymmetric catalysis of intermolecular C–H insertion with the introduction of donor/ acceptor-substituted carbenoids. Davies's group has extensively exploited the asymmetric catalytic reactions with aryldiazoacetates and vinyldiazoacetates.^{11,j,64} The Rh(II) carbenes derived from aryldiazoacetates and vinyldiazoacetates are generally highly selective in intermolecular C–H insertion reactions. C–H insertion prefers to occur at the α -position of oxygen^{64b,e} or nitrogen^{64a,f,i,j,I} functionalities, which can be used as surrogates of classic Aldol, Michael, and Mannich reactions.

A recent example is the enantioselective synthesis of β -amino esters **40** with Rh₂(*S*-DOSP)₄-catalyzed C–H insertion reactions of the bis-silylmethylamine **39** with various aryldiazoacetates (Scheme 32).⁶⁴¹

C–H insertion is also favored for allylic and benzylic sites, and the carbenoid derived from aryldiazoacetate is far more prone toward C–H insertion than cyclopropanation. Asymmetric allylic C–H insertion of alkenes via metal-catalyzed diazoacetate decomposition offers a unique approach to γ , δ -unsaturated esters **41**, which contain two stereocenters. This type of compounds is classically synthesized through a Claisen rearrangement (Scheme 33).^{64k} Asymmetric benzylic C–H insertion has also been developed by Davies and co-workers.^{64d}

Vinylcarbenoids are also used in asymmetric intermolecular C–H insertion, and the introduction of substrates with a directing





functionality adds to the diversity and widespread synthetic utility of this chemistry. The Rh₂(S-DOSP)₄-mediated reactions of vinylcarbenoids with allylic substrates resulted in a very unusual chemistry.^{64g,h} The reaction underwent a C-H activation/Cope rearrangement, as demonstrated by the reaction with vinvldiazoacetate 42. The vinylcarbenoid generated from 42 activated the allylic C-H bond of 43, which was followed by a Cope rearrangement to yield 45. The C-H activation product 44 was also detected (Scheme 34).^{64g} Since this process is highly efficient and stereoselective, it has been successfully utilized in the total synthesis of the natural products, (-)-colombiasin A and (-)-elisapterosin B.²⁸ⁱ



Vinyldiazolactone 46 as a vinylcarbene precursor has also been investigated recently. The Rh(II) carbene generated from this type of diazo compound is more favorably disposed toward intermolecular C-H insertion than cyclopropanation (47/48=9:1). A moderately high level of enantioselectivity has been achieved with Doyle's chiral Rh(II) carboxamidate catalyst 49 (Scheme 35).^{63h}



Although the major research activity on the asymmetric catalvsis of X-H insertion has been concentrated on the C-H bond, some significant developments have been recently reported on Si-H, O-H, and N-H bond insertion. Si-H insertion is considered to be similar to C-H insertion in its reaction mechanism. Moody and coworkers have screened a series of chiral rhodium(II) catalysts based on α -hydroxy acids and N-arenesulfonyl α -amino acids for asymmetric Si-H insertion by a parallel synthesis technique. However. the enantioselectivity remains only low to moderate for all of the chiral Rh(II) catalysts.⁶⁶ Recently, Corey and co-workers have obtained a high level of enantioselectivity with diazo-2-cyclohexenone by using a fluorinated proline-based chiral Rh(II) catalyst 50 (Scheme 36).67



Metal carbene O-H insertion and N-H insertion are believed to follow a ylide generation/1,2-proton shift mechanism, which is different from that of the corresponding C-H and Si-H insertions. In contrast to C-H insertion, asymmetric catalytic O-H insertion and N-H insertion have been essentially unsuccessful until very recently, when a breakthrough in O-H insertion was made by Fu's group. With Cu(OTf)₂/bisazaferrocene (+)-51 as the chiral catalyst and 2-trimethylsilylethanol as the O-H bond donor, a high level of enantioselectivity was obtained with a series of methyl aryldiazoacetates (Scheme 37).68

On the other hand, Zhou and co-workers have made a breakthrough in Cu(I)-catalyzed asymmetric N-H insertion by using their chiral spirobisoxazoline 54 as ligand. For ethyl 2-diazopropionate 52a, generally a high level of enantioselectivity has



been obtained (Scheme 38).⁶⁹ However, for ethyl phenyldiazoacetate **52b**, only a low enantioselectivity could be observed.



5. Cyclopropanation and related reactions

Along with C–H insertion, cyclopropanation is typical for transition metal-catalyzed reactions of α -diazocarbonyl compounds (Scheme 39).^{1a,d} Three-membered ring products are very important, because they occur as structural subunits in biologically active natural/unnatural products and synthetic intermediates.^{70,71} Transition metal-catalyzed reactions of diazocarbonyl compounds with olefins and alkynes are powerful methods for the synthesis of cyclopropanes and cyclopropenes. Although the transition metalcatalyzed cyclopropanation of diazocarbonyl compounds has been extensively investigated in the past decades, there have still been some new developments at the present time, especially in asymmetric catalysis.



5.1. Catalytic cyclopropanation

An interesting development seen in the past few years is the combination of transition metal-catalyzed cyclopropanation with other types of reactions in single or cascade operations. Owing to the high strain of the three-membered ring system, there are varieties of possible pathways for the ring opening of cyclopropanation products. On the other hand, it is now understood that many functional groups can be tolerated in the transition metal-catalyzed reactions of α -diazo compounds. Consequently, it is possible to design a diazo substrate bearing the necessary functional groups for further transformation after cyclopropanation.

Charette and co-workers used the α -nitro- α -diazoesters **55** (X=N₂) as carbene precursors in Rh(II)-catalyzed cyclopropanation. Through the combination of the cyclopropanation with reduction, a series of cyclopropane α -amino acids and amines could be synthesized.^{72a,b} On the other hand, with subsequent ring opening of the cyclopropanation products **56** by amine, followed by DDQ oxidation, a series of polysubstituted pyrroles **57** could be obtained (Scheme 40).^{72c}

Cyclopropane rings bearing both electron-donating and electron-withdrawing groups are prone to undergo ring opening.⁷³ As an example, Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction of α -diazoketones with vinyl ethers afforded the cyclopropanation products **58**, which carried an electron-withdrawing carbonyl group and an electron-donating



alkoxy group. This type of cyclopropane derivatives was found to undergo ring opening in the presence of $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ affording the 1,4-diketones **59**. The $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ -assisted ring opening is presumably due to the coordination of the Rh(II) complex with the carbonyl oxygen (Scheme 41).⁷⁴



The capability of donor–acceptor metal carbenes derived from vinyldiazoacetates to undergo cyclopropanation of dienes with the predominant formation of *cis*-1,2-divinyl compounds makes possible a subsequent Cope rearrangement to afford the bicyclic dienes. This tandem cyclopropanation/Cope rearrangement has been extensively studied by Davies and co-workers.⁷⁵ In one example, a 6-azabicyclo[3.2.2]nonane ring system **60** can be constructed by the Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction of vinyldiazoacetates with 1,2-dihydropyridines (Scheme 42).^{75b} Asymmetric induction is possible by using dirhodium tetraprolinates as chiral catalysts in this reaction with moderately high levels of enantioselectivity.



The sequential catalytic process involving cyclopropanation can be developed by connection with other well-established transition metal-catalyzed reactions, such as Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions and Ru-catalyzed olefin metathesis.⁷⁶ The substrates used in the Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions are organohalides and triflates, organoborons, and organostannanes. Although Rh(II) complexes are highly reactive in the decomposition of diazo compounds, they do not normally react with these functional groups. A demonstration of the usefulness of this strategy is the combination of the Rh(II)-catalyzed cyclopropanation and C–H insertion with a subsequent palladium(II)-catalyzed Suzuki coupling, which offers a novel method for diversity synthesis (Scheme 43).^{76b}



Cyclopropanation can also be designed to be incorporated into a tandem catalytic process. A recent example is the tandem enyne metathesis/cyclopropanation catalyzed by Grubbs' ruthenium catalyst **61**. With single Grubbs' ruthenium catalyst, a variety of diazo compounds participate successfully in a regioselective cyclopropanation of 1,3-dienes, generated in situ from various enynes (Scheme 44).⁷⁷



Other developments in intermolecular cyclopropanation involve the use of $Bu_3SnC(=N_2)CO_2R$ as the carbene precursor,⁷⁸ Rh(II)-catalyzed cyclopropanation in aqueous media,^{72a} etc.

When both functionalities, the diazo unit and the alkene, are situated in the same molecule, intramolecular cyclopropanation is possible in the presence of the appropriate catalyst. Actually, intramolecular cyclopropanation is a powerful tool to construct bicyclic systems. Chemoselectivity is a commonly encountered problem in transition metal-catalyzed intramolecular cyclopropanation via metal carbenes. In most cases, intramolecular C-H insertion is the major competing pathway, although other competing pathways such as sigmatropic rearrangement are also possible. The factors that influence the selectivity for these reactions are quite complicated. Doyle and co-workers have developed a novel strategy to build macrocycles by using intramolecular cyclopropanation.⁷⁹ They also systematically studied various factors that may influence the chemoselectivity. As shown in Scheme 45, both the transition metals and the ligands can exert a significant influence on the ratio of cyclopropanation/[2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement.80

Similar to intermolecular cyclopropanation, intramolecular cyclopropanation can also undergo a tandem process, which may be useful in organic synthesis.⁸¹ An example is the enantioselective synthesis of bicyclo[6.1.0]nonane-9-carboxylic acids **62** via Rh(II)-catalyzed intramolecular cyclopropanation followed by Me₂AlOTf-



promoted intramolecular Friedel–Crafts alkylation of the aromatic nucleophile with the γ -lactone moiety in bicyclic products (Scheme 46).^{81a}



Cyclopropanation of metal carbenes to aromatic double bonds normally follows subsequent rearrangement, such as a Büchner reaction. As an example, Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction of diazo compounds **63** affords the intramolecular cyclopropanation products **65**, which is followed by a six-electron electrocyclic ring opening to give the substituted azulenes **64** as the final product (Scheme 47).⁸²



Cyclopropanation also occurs by the reactions of metal carbenes with furan and pyrrole. In the case of furan, the initial cyclopropanation product **66** will be followed by a consecutive ring opening process, eventually leading to the ring opening of furan.⁸³ This reaction has been recently utilized in the construction of central seven-membered ring of guanacastepene (Scheme 48).^{83c}



Unlike furan, the cyclopropanation products from pyrrole undergo a rearrangement that leads to the formal C–H insertion products. The formal C–H insertion gives a mixture of 2- and 3-regioisomers (Scheme 49).⁸⁴



Scheme 49.

Cyclopropanation of other aromatic compounds includes activated quinolines, isoquinolines,⁸⁵ and benzopyrylium triflates.⁸⁶ In these cases, cyclopropanation is followed by ring enlargement that is similar to the Büchner reaction.

Reaction of alkynes with metal carbenes affords cyclopropenation products, which are potentially valuable synthetic intermediates for the construction of carbocyclic and heterocyclic compounds. A recent example of the Rh(II)-catalyzed chemoselective cyclopropenation was reported by Fox and Panne. By changing the ligands of the Rh(II) complexes **67**, it is possible to switch between cyclopropenation and alkyne insertion (Scheme 50).⁸⁷



5.2. Asymmetric catalysis in cyclopropanation

Although asymmetric catalytic cyclopropanation via metal carbene-transfer has a long history, it still attracts attention and there have been new developments in the past three years. New chiral catalysts and catalytic systems have been designed in order to reach a high enantioselectivity and reactivity. Rh(II) and Cu(I) complexes are the two most commonly used chiral catalysts in asymmetric cyclopropanation.

The prolinate chiral rhodium catalysts developed by McKervey's group and Davies's group have been very successful for asymmetric

C–H insertion with donor/acceptor-substituted diazo compounds. These catalytic systems are also successful for cyclopropanation and cyclopropenation. As an example, Davies and co-workers have demonstrated that $Rh_2(S-DOSP)_4$ is an effective chiral catalyst for the enantioselective cyclopropenation of alkynes by methyl aryldiazoacetates.⁸⁸

A bridged dirhodium tetraprolinate Rh₂(*S*-biTISP)₂ has been designed and was found to be an excellent catalyst in asymmetric cyclopropanation. It can be used for α -diazophosphonates and affords a high level of diastereocontrol and a moderate to good level of enantiocontrol (Scheme 51).⁸⁹ This catalyst also has a high turnover number and turnover frequency.⁹⁰ Moreover, this catalyst is also immobilized by highly cross-linked macroporous polystyrene resins with a pyridine attachment.^{26d-f}



Doyle's rhodium(II) carboxamidate complexes are also effective chiral catalysts in cyclopropanation reactions, particularly in intramolecular cyclopropanation reactions. Recently, diastereo-selectivity in the dirhodium(II) carboxamidate-catalyzed intramolecular cyclopropanation was evaluated with diazoacetates bearing a chiral linker to the remote double bond.⁹¹

Cyclopropanation of substituted double bonds by metal carbenes usually favors the formation of *trans*-substituted cyclopropanes. To obtain a high selectivity for the cis-isomer remains a challenge. To tackle this problem, Doyle and co-workers have developed a new azetidine-ligated dirhodium(II) catalyst **69** that possesses an L-menthyl ester attachment. This Rh(II) catalyst provides significant diastereocontrol and high enantiocontrol for the formation of *cis*-cyclopropane products from the reactions of substituted styrenes with diazoesters. The usefulness of this reaction has been demonstrated by a total synthesis of a cyclopropane-configured phenylethylthiazoylthiourea (PETT) analogue **68** (Scheme 52).⁹²



Charette and co-workers have focused on the transition metalcatalyzed reaction with diazo compounds bearing an adjacent nitro or cyano group. A new azetidine-based dirhodium(II) catalyst $Rh_2[4S-(4')-FBNAZ]_4$ **71** was prepared and found to be effective in the intramolecular cyclopropanation of substituted allylic cyanodiazoacetates **70** with up to 91% ee (Scheme 53).⁹³



The most commonly applied chiral Rh(II) catalysts in the reaction of α -diazocarbonyl compounds to date have been Rh₂bridged dimers having four identical chiral ligands. Corey and co-workers have designed and synthesized a series of mixed dirhodium(II) catalysts [Rh₂(RCO₂)_n(L*_{4-n})].²⁵ Especially, Rh₂(OAc) (DPTI)₃ **15** and Rh₂(O₂C-*t*-Bu)₂(DPTI)₂ **16** are very effective in asymmetric cyclopropenation (Scheme 54). The reaction mechanism of the Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction was discussed based on the experimental data obtained with the mixed Rh(II) complexes.^{25,94}



In addition to the Rh(II) catalysts, Cu(I) complexes are also efficient catalysts for cyclopropanation in carbene-transfer reactions, especially in asymmetric cyclopropanation.⁹⁵ A recent mechanistic investigation indicates that the selectivity-determining step in the copper-catalyzed cyclopropanation proceeds by a concerted, but very asynchronous, addition of a metallacarbene to the alkene.⁹⁶

 C_2 Symmetric bisoxazoline copper complexes have proved to be very effective chiral catalysts for cyclopropanation. Modification to these chiral ligands has been one of the main areas of interest in recent years. Heterogeneous bisoxazolines have been tested with the employment of various immobilization and recycling methods.⁹⁷ Immobilization of the chiral ligands by a fluorous-phase approach has also been examined for bisoxazoline ligands. As an example, fluorous bisoxazoline ligands **72** were tested in the Cu(1)catalyzed cyclopropanation of styrene with various α -diazoacetates.⁹⁸ The catalyst can be easily separated from the products by simple precipitation using hexane and can be recycled without any loss of diastereo- and enantioselectivity.



On the other hand, the structure of bisoxazolines may be tuned through modification of their steric and electronic features, e.g., 3,3'-bithiophene backbone **73** has been studied and tested in asymmetric cyclopropanation.⁹⁹ This investigation suggests that steric factors and catalyst geometrical features are more important than the electronic properties of the chiral ligands.

Itagaki and co-workers prepared some new bisoxazoline ligands with an aryl group at the 4-position and a *gem*-dimethyl group at the 5-position on the oxazoline ring (Scheme 55).¹⁰⁰ Enhancement of the trans selectivity (trans/cis 87/13) and the enantioselectivity (96% ee for the trans product) was demonstrated for the asymmetric cyclopropanation of 2,5-dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene by *tert*-butyl diazoacetate with CuOTf/**74**.



Modification of the backbone of the bisoxazoline ligands has been studied by several groups. Zhang and co-workers have introduced a biaryl backbone into the bisoxazoline ligands.¹⁰¹ Heteroatoms have also been introduced into the backbone. In one example, Pfaltz and co-workers developed a new class of anionic, boron-bridged analogues of the chiral bisoxazoline ligands **75a** and **75b**. The interesting feature of this new type of bisoxazoline ligands is that the negative charge is located in the backbone. The Cu(1)catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanation with these ligands gives promising results (Scheme 56).¹⁰²



The C_2 symmetric bisoxazoline ligands are mostly used in Cu(I)catalyzed intermolecular cyclopropanation. A recent example reported by Nakada and co-workers on the asymmetric cyclopropanation of α -diazo- β -keto sulfones demonstrates the successful application of C_2 symmetric bisoxazoline ligands **76** in intramolecular cyclopropanation (Scheme 57).¹⁰³ This example is the first highly enantioselective cyclopropanation for α -diazo- β -keto sulfones.

Some other C_2 symmetric ligands have also been explored recently.¹⁰⁴ Wilson and co-workers have reported a new chiral bipyridyl ligand **77** (Scheme 58).^{104a} This ligand was evaluated in the asymmetric Cu(I)-catalyzed cyclopropanation reactions of a series of alkenes and diazoesters. High diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity were observed (>95:5 dr and up to 99% ee).

In addition to the C_2 symmetric ligands, C_1 symmetric ligands, $^{105}C_3$ symmetric ligands, 106 and multidentate *N*-donor ligands, 107 have been developed for copper-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanation. Moreover, other chiral transition metal



complexes, such as those of ruthenium,¹⁰⁸ iron,¹⁰⁹ cobalt,¹¹⁰ and chromium,¹¹¹ have also been investigated in asymmetric cyclopropanation.

6. Ylide formation and related reactions

The interaction of the electron-deficient carbenic carbon of the metal carbene intermediate with a pair of non-bonding electrons contributed by a Lewis base (B:) generates a metal complex-associated ylide or a free ylide. The ylide intermediate thus generated is usually highly reactive and undergoes further reactions to give stable products (Scheme 59).



The common Lewis bases that are utilized to generate ylides include ethers, sulfides, amines, carbonyl compounds, and imines. The typical reactions of the ylides include: (1) [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement of allylic, propargylic, and allenic ylides; (2) 1,2-shift (Stevens rearrangement); (3) 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the ylides generated from carbonyl compounds or imines with dipolarophiles, usually C=C or C=C bonds; and (4) nucleophilic addition/elimination, leading to the formation of epoxides or cyclopropanes.

The diverse reactivities of ylides make these intermediates valuable in organic synthesis. The ylide formation from a metal carbene and the subsequent reactions can occur in either an interor intramolecular manner. With these cascade transformations, it is possible to rapidly assemble organic compounds with considerable complexity from relatively simple starting materials. Besides, some of these reactions show excellent chemo-, regio-, and stereo-selectivity. Recent advances in asymmetric catalysis in this field add further merit to these transformations. Since this chemistry has been reviewed by us very recently,¹¹² in order to avoid repetition, only the literature mainly published in the past two years will be surveyed here.

6.1. Sulfonium ylides

Sulfide groups are easy to interact with metal carbenes to generate the corresponding ylides. Useful reactions of the sulfonium ylides fall into two main classes: [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangements and 1,2-shifts.

Sulfonium ylides generated from the reaction of metal carbene complexes and allylic, propargylic, or allenic sulfides readily undergo [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement. This type of rearrangement, known as the Doyle–Kirmse reaction, represents one of the most versatile bond reorganization processes in organic chemistry. Crich and co-workers have used this rearrangement as tool for amino acid and peptide modification (Scheme 60).¹¹³ It is worthy of note that, even though there are many potential sites, such as N–H bonds and carbonyl groups, in both the allyl sulfide **78** and the diazo substrate **79**, which may interact with Rh(II) carbene, the sulfur ylide [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement product **80** is still formed in reasonable yield.



The Doyle–Kirmse reaction is usually performed in an anhydrous organic solvent under an inert atmosphere. However, it has been demonstrated that [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement of sulfur ylides derived from Rh(II) carbene and sulfides can be efficiently carried out in water. No O–H insertion product can be identified.¹¹⁴ Again, this might be another example of an 'on water' reaction.

The allenyl sufides **81**, obtained from the [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement of sulfonium ylides generated from Rh(II) carbene and propargyl sulfide, can be further catalyzed by a Ru(II) catalyst to afford the furan derivatives **83** through a 1,4 migration of the sulfanyl group and generation of Ru carbene intermediates **82**. This discovery leads to a one-pot sequential catalytic transformation of α -diazocarbonyl compounds to furan derivatives (Scheme 61).¹¹⁵

Asymmetric catalysis in sulfonium ylide [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement reactions has progressed slowly in the past few years. Recently high stereoselectivity has been achieved using a double asymmetric induction approach with diazo substrates **84** bearing a chiral auxiliary, as shown in Scheme 62. With either chiral diimine ligand **85** or achiral ligand **86**, comparable enantiose-lectivities were obtained. It is noted in this reaction that the sense of the asymmetric induction is dictated by the chiral camphorsultam auxiliary, rather than by the chiral catalyst.¹¹⁶

The other major reaction pathway for sulfonium ylides is a 1,2-shift (Stevens rearrangement). This reaction has been extensively investigated by West and co-workers.¹¹⁷ Such rearrangements may occur via a homolysis–recombination mechanism. The 1,2-shift is



a useful methodology for carbene insertion into a C–S bond. This reaction is particularly useful in the synthesis of cyclic thioethers.¹¹⁸ A recent example is a macrocyclic ring expansion by a double Stevens rearrangement (Scheme 63).^{118b}



Nucleophilic addition of sulfonium ylides to a C=O or C=N bond is a route to produce epoxides or aziridines, with the release of sulfides. Aggarwal and co-workers have developed a catalytic cycle to achieve asymmetric epoxidation with a sulfonium ylide as a reactive intermediate.¹¹⁹ Recent advances in this direction are the generation of diazo compounds in situ through a Bamford–Stevens reaction of tosylhydrazone salts, as shown in Scheme 4.⁸

6.2. Oxonium ylides

The oxygen heteroatom in ethers is a weak to moderate Lewis base. Nevertheless, a highly reactive metal carbene complex, such as Rh(II) carbene or Cu(I) carbene complex, can interact with the oxygen to generate an oxygen ylide. Similar to those of the sulfonium ylides, the major reaction pathways for oxonium ylides generated from metal carbene complexes are also [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangements and 1,2-shifts.

A recent advance in [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangements of oxonium ylides is the utilization of iodonium ylides as diazoketone surrogates for the generation of onium ylide intermediates and the subsequent rearrangement. The one-step procedure proceeds in comparable yields relative to the corresponding two-step route employing diazoketone intermediates (Scheme 64).¹²⁰



Stereoselective [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement of oxonium ylides has found applications in organic synthesis. A recent example is the synthesis of the fungal metabolite, (+)-decarestrictine L **89**. Tandem oxonium ylide formation and rearrangement are used to construct the tetrahydropyranyl core of this natural product (Scheme 65).¹²¹ With Cu(tfacac)₂ as the catalyst, the reaction of **87** afforded the tetrahydropyrane **88** with good diastereoselectivity.



Besides [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement and 1,2-shift reactions, the oxonium ylide intermediate can be trapped by a nucleophile or proceed through other pathways. A recent example is a multicomponent reaction of the diazoketone **90** with an alcohol and aldehyde. This reaction involves a tricyclooxonium ylide intermediate **91** (Scheme 66).¹²² The rearrangement of **91** results in the separation of positive and negative charges to give **92**. Subsequent trapping of the positive charge by the alcohol and the negative charge by the aldehyde gave **93**.



6.3. Ammonium ylides

Ammonium ylides can be generated from a metal carbene and an amine. These ylides undergo a 1,2-shift or a [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement in a manner similar to that of the corresponding oxonium and sulfonium ylides.¹²³ A recent development was reported by Vanecko and West, who have utilized a ring expansion reaction of spiro azetidinium ylide **94** in the synthesis of pyrrolizidine alkaloids (Scheme 67).^{123b}



An interesting feature of ammonium ylides is that they can function as nucleophiles to add to imines and arylaldehydes. This chemistry has been studied extensively by Doyle and Hu.¹²⁴ Recently, this nucleophilic addition reaction has been extended to azo compounds. As shown in Scheme 68, the ammonium ylides **95** adds to diethyl azodicarboxylate (DEAD) to give **96** in moderate to good yields.^{124c}



6.4. Carbonyl and azomethine ylides

The oxygen lone-pair electrons in a carbonyl group can react with the electron-deficient carbonic carbon of a metal carbene complex to generate the carbonyl ylide. Unlike an oxonium ylide, a positive charge in such a carbonyl ylide is mainly localized at the carbonyl carbon. Consequently, carbonyl ylides behave like 1,3-dipolar species (Scheme 69).



Carbonyl ylides possess versatile reactivities, among which the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition is the most common and important reaction. The reaction sequence of ylide formation and then 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition can occur in either an inter- or intramolecular manner. Furthermore, the carbonyl ylides generated from metal carbenes can add not only to alkenes and alkynes but also to C=O and C=N bonds.

Cyclic carbonyl ylides can be generated through an intramolecular reaction of a metal carbene complex with a pendant carbonyl group. The ylide is then trapped by a dipolarophile to give an oxygen-bridged bicyclic product. This tandem ylide formation/ 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition sequence has been extensively explored in organic synthesis by Padwa,^{1c,f,125} Hashimoto,¹²⁶ Hodgson,^{1h,127} and by many other groups.¹²⁸

Padwa and co-workers have established an isomünchnone dipole, a push–pull carbonyl ylide, as an important intermediate in organic synthesis. The isomünchnone dipole can be trapped efficiently by various dipolarophiles to give the nitrogen-containing polycyclic compounds. A recent report by Padwa and co-workers describes the concise total synthesis of (±)-aspidophytine **98** by a Rh(II)-catalyzed carbenoid cyclization/cycloaddition cascade of a suitably substituted α -diazoimide **97** as the key step (Scheme 70).^{125d}



Hashimoto and co-workers have focused on the application of an ylide formation/1,3-dipolar cycloaddition cascade in the total synthesis of zaragozic acids, a family of polyketide natural products. Recently, they have achieved the total synthesis of zaragozic acid A **101** and C **102** (Scheme 71).^{126b} The key step in their synthesis was the generation of a carbonyl ylide (a 1,3-dipole) from the Rh₂(OAc)₄-catalyzed reaction of diazo ester **99**, which was reacted with an electron-deficient triple bond to give **100** containing the core structure of zaragozic acid.

In addition to alkenes and alkynes, aldehydes, ketones, and imines can additionally act as dipolarophiles to react with carbonyl ylide dipoles. Various electron-deficient multiple bonds, such as N=N, N=O, C=C bonds, and singlet oxygen, are also found to react with carbonyl ylides. These cycloaddition reactions provide efficient routes to various heterocycles.¹²⁹

The 1,3-dipolar intermediates may follow pathways other than cycloaddition to double bonds. These pathways include rearrangement, ring closure to give epoxides, and nucleophilic addition.¹¹² An interesting recent report is the addition of nucleophiles to the carbonyl ylides. As shown in Scheme 72, the Rh₂(OAc)₄-catalyzed reaction of diazoketone **103** generates the carbonyl ylide intermediate **104**, which is attacked by nucleophiles, such as alcohols or amines, to afford the bicyclic products **105**.¹³⁰

Asymmetric catalysis of the cascade carbonyl ylide formationcycloaddition with chiral Rh(II) catalysts has been extensively investigated by Hashimoto, Hodgson, and by other groups.¹¹² Most of these investigations have used chiral metal complexes, mostly Rh(II) complexes, to generate chiral metal carbenes from diazocarbonyl compounds. An alternative and interesting approach, developed by Suga and co-workers, is to achieve the asymmetric induction by using an achiral Rh(II) catalyst to generate the



Scheme 71.



Scheme 72.

carbonyl ylide and a chiral Lewis acid to activate the C=O bond. High levels of enantioselectivity can be obtained by this approach with the chiral Lewis acids, Sc(III)-Pybox-^{*i*}Pr and Yb(III)-Pybox-Ph.¹³¹

Other developments in stereoselective 1,3-dipole cycloaddition include a chiral auxiliary approach by using dipolarophiles bearing chiral sulfinyl groups reported by Ruano and co-workers. A moderately high level of diastereoselectivity was observed.¹³²

Very recently, Fu described the first examples of diastereoand enantioselective copper-catalyzed asymmetric [4+1] cycloadditions of enones with diazo compounds through the use of a planar-chiral bipyridine ligand (–)-bpy **107**. The carbonyl ylide intermediate **106** was considered as a reactive intermediate in this reaction (Scheme 73).¹³³

Similar to the reaction with carbonyl compounds, a metal carbene reacts with imines readily to generate the corresponding azomethine ylides. The major reaction pathways of azomethine



ylides are ring closure and 1,3-dipolar addition, which afford aziridines and pyrrolidines, respectively.¹¹² Transition metal complexcatalyzed three-component reactions, which include an imine, a diazo compound, and a dipolarophile, have been extensively studied in recent years.¹³⁴

Che and co-workers have recently studied the stereoselective ruthenium porphyrin-catalyzed three-component coupling reaction of α -diazoesters with a series of *N*-benzylidene imines and alkenes, alkynes or azodicarboxylates to form the corresponding functionalized pyrrolidines, pyrrolines or 1,2,4-triazolidines (Scheme 10).^{15a,134a,b}

6.5. Halonium ylides

Transfer of a metal carbene moiety from a metal carbene complex to a halogen is possible to generate a halonium ylide. The halonium ylides may follow similar pathways to other heteroatom (S, O, N, etc.) counterparts. One such example was very recently reported by Dias and co-workers. Silver(I) tris(pyrazolyl)borate **108**-catalyzed reaction of diazoacetate in the presence of primary allylic or propargylic halides affords the [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement products in good yields (Scheme 74).¹³⁵



7. 1,2-Migration and Wolff rearrangement

7.1. 1,2-Migration

1,2-Migration is commonly encountered in transition metalcatalyzed reactions of α -diazocarbonyl compounds. Although 1,2migration is usually considered as a side reaction that competes with other typical metal carbene reactions such as X–H insertion and cyclopropanation, it has some useful applications in synthesis, e.g., Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction of β -hydroxy- α -diazocarbonyl compounds is a useful method to synthesize 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds.

When there are different migrating groups adjacent to the carbene center, the question arises as to which group will migrate preferentially (Scheme 75). Previous experimental data have clearly indicated that 1,2-H migration is a highly favorable process. Normally, no other group can compete with hydrogen in metal carbene 1,2-migration if there is a hydrogen present in the β -position. A phenyl group is easier to migrate, while an alkyl group is the most difficult to migrate.



Recent studies by Wang and co-workers have demonstrated that this 1,2-migratory aptitude is significantly affected by the electronic and steric effects of the non-migrating substituents (bystander groups).¹³⁶ As shown by the examples in Scheme 76, 1,2-phenyl migration becomes predominant over 1,2-H migration when the bystander group is changed from a hydroxyl group to a tosylamino group and to a trichloroacetylamino group. This change of migratory aptitude is rationalized by the stabilizing effect of the partial positive charge developed in the transition state **109** by the protected amino group (Scheme 76).^{136a,c} From the results of theoretical calculations on the 1,2-migration of singlet carbene, it is assumed that the 1,2-hydrogen migration can be viewed as largely resembling a hydride shift with significant charge separation in the transition state, while the 1,2-phenyl migration proceeds with less charge separation in the transition state.



A similar change of migratory aptitude can also be seen in the case of 1,2-H versus 1,2-vinyl or 1,2-acetylenyl migration (Scheme 77). 136c

The steric effect also plays an important role in affecting the migratory aptitude. A sterically bulkier group in the migrating origin obviously favors a large group, such as phenyl, to migrate, because the steric hindrance can thus be relieved. On the other hand, when there is a bulkier group attached to the carbene carbon, a small group (H) will migrate in order to relieve steric congestion



in the product. This trend can be clearly seen in the examples shown in Scheme $78.^{136d}$



The ligands of Rh(II) catalysts have been known to change the reaction pathway of Rh(II) carbenes. Recently, Aggarwal and coworkers have showed that, by tuning the ligands on Rh(II) from acetate to trifluoroacetate, the normally very facile 1,2-H migration process could be completely reversed to favor 1,2-alkyl migration in the reaction with **110** (Scheme 79).¹³⁷ This is the first example in which 1,2-alkyl migration overrides 1,2-H migration.



Wang and co-workers have also observed that a thio group has a higher migratory aptitude over hydrogen in the $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ -catalyzed reactions of diazo compounds **111** (Scheme 80).¹³⁸



In a related investigation, the same group has observed a 2,3migration in Rh(II)-catalyzed reactions of α -trifluoroacetamido β diazocarbonyl compounds. The migration presumably proceeds through a five-centered transition state.¹³⁹

7.2. Wolff rearrangement and related reactions

The Wolff rearrangement of α -diazocarbonyl compounds generate a short-lived ketene intermediate that may undergo further reactions such as cycloaddition or attack by nucleophiles (Scheme 81).¹⁹ The Wolff rearrangement has been widely used in organic synthesis for the homologation of carboxylic acids (Arndt–Eistert reaction) and for ring contraction, leading to strained cyclic systems. The Wolff rearrangement can be carried out under either photochemical or transition metal-catalyzed conditions.



As a well-established synthetic methodology, the Wolff rearrangement continues to find application in organic synthesis in the past few years.¹⁴⁰ A remarkable example of a Wolff rearrangementbased ring contraction in synthesis was reported by Mascitti and Corey in the total synthesis of pentacycloanammoxic acid **116**, a highly unusual fatty acid with rigid ladder structure. To construct the unusual fused four-membered ring system, ring contraction by the Wolff rearrangement was repeated two times from **112** to **113** and from **114** to **115** (Scheme 82).^{140d,e}



Several new synthetic methodologies based on the Wolff rearrangement have been reported recently. Stoltz and co-workers have developed an efficient method for the construction of a highly functionalized cycloheptadienone **118** and a vinylcyclopentenone **119** by a tandem Wolff/Cope rearrangement sequence with vinyl cyclopropyl diazoketone **117**. The interesting feature is that, under Ag(I)-catalyzed conditions, the tandem reaction affords the cycloheptadienone derivative **118**, while under photochemical conditions it gives the vinylcyclopentenone **119** (Scheme 83).¹⁴¹ The formation of **119** is due to a secondary photochemical reaction of the primary product **118**.

The ketene intermediates generated from the Wolff rearrangement undergo [2+2] cycloaddition reactions with alkenes, alkynes, and imines. These cycloaddition reactions provide efficient tools for constructing four-membered ring structures. In particular, the reaction with imines (Staudinger reaction) is an important procedure to synthesize β -lactam derivatives. Xu and co-workers have studied this reaction in some detail.¹⁴² By using ethoxycarbonyl(phenylthio)ketene **121**, which is generated by a thia-Wolff rearrangement in a Rh₂(OAc)₄-catalyzed reaction of 3-phenylthio-2-diazo-3-oxopropionate **120**, a new synthesis of 3-alkoxycarbonyl β -lactam derivatives **122** has been developed (Scheme 84).^{142a}

Besides the [2+2] cycloaddition reaction, ketenes can also undergo other cycloaddition reactions, such as [2+1], [2+4], and [4+1] cycloadditions. Danheiser and co-workers have extensively investigated the [4+1] cycloaddition. A recent example is a new





[4+1] annulation route to cyclopentenones **125** via the reactions of (trialkylsilyl)arylketenes **124**, which are generated photochemically from **123** (Scheme 85).¹⁴³



A [4+2] 6π -electrocyclization route to highly substituted aromatic compounds **128** has also been developed by the same group (Scheme 86).¹⁴⁴ The reaction is proceeded from the initial C-acylation of the ynolates **127** by the vinylketene intermediates **126**.

Other important developments in the Wolff rearrangement include novel catalytic systems such as in situ generated silver



nanoclusters,¹⁴⁵ mechanistic studies,¹⁴⁶ applications of the Wolff rearrangement in processes for the patterning of polymers,¹⁴⁷ and for the synthesis of UV light-sensitive micelles.¹⁴⁸

8. Reactions with α -diazocarbonyl compounds as nucleophiles

Although diazo compounds are highly unstable under acidic conditions, they are generally stable under basic conditions. Acyldiazomethane can be deprotonated to generate an anion, which can function as a carbon nucleophile. Moreover, since the carbon attached to the dinitrogen is negatively polarized, the diazo compound itself can be a nucleophile (Scheme 87).^{1d,149} Mayr and co-workers have showed that diazomethane, phenyldiazomethane, and trimethylsilyldiazomethane are comparable in nucleophilicity to ketene acetals, while the less reactive compounds, diphenyldiazomethane, ethyl diazoacetate, and diazoacetone, are comparable to typical silyl enol ethers and activated allylsilanes, and the nucleophilicity of diethyl diazomalonate corresponds to that of 1,1-dialkylethylenes or styrenes.¹⁵⁰ These nucleophiles bearing a diazo functionality can add to C=O or C=N double bonds to afford diazo compounds with various functional groups.



On the other hand, α -diazo β -keto compounds **129** can be enolized to generate enolates, which can function as nucleophiles (Scheme 88). The most common procedure to enolize these diazo compounds is to convert them into boron or Ti(IV) enolates or into silyl enol ethers **130**. Similar to the common enolates, nucleophilic additions to C=O or C=N bonds are possible with **130**.



Although the sensitivity of the diazo functionality to the strong acids and bases has limited the potential widespread use of these diazo group-containing nucleophiles, some useful synthetic methodologies have been developed based on these nucleophiles, and there have been some new developments in recent years.

Nucleophilic addition of an acyldiazomethane to an aldehyde or ketone under strongly basic conditions has been known for some time.¹⁴⁹ The α -hydroxy β -diazocarbonyl compounds thus obtained can be catalyzed by transition metal complexes to give β -keto carbonyl compounds through 1,2-migration. This transformation has potential utility in organic synthesis (Scheme 89).

A reaction using mild condition for promoting the condensation of acyldiazomethanes with aldehydes or imines involves the application of DBU in catalytic amounts.¹⁵¹ This reaction can also be carried out in water (Scheme 90).^{151b} In addition, phase-transfer catalyst quaternary ammonium salts have been introduced into these reactions.¹⁵² The condensation can also be carried out under Lewis acid-catalyzed conditions.¹⁵³





Scheme 90.

A further extension of this chemistry is the catalytic asymmetric aldol-type reactions of aldehydes with diazoesters. Yao and Wang have reported that, with a chiral complex of (S)-6,6'-Br₂BINOL-Zr(O^tBu)₄, asymmetric induction is possible with moderate enantioselectivities (Scheme 91).¹⁵⁴



A similar level of enantioselectivity has been reported by Nishida and co-workers in the condensation of aldehydes with *tert*-butyl diazoacetate catalyzed by a phase-transfer catalyst, cincho-nidinium salt **131** (Scheme 92).^{152a,b}



As imines are generally thought to be less active than aldehydes, the corresponding addition of the diazo compounds to imines has not been studied in detail. An investigation by Wang and coworkers demonstrated that the condensation of acyldiazomethanes could be carried out similarly to that with aldehydes.¹⁵⁵ A recent example is the nucleophilic addition of ethyl diazoacetate (EDA) derived anions to *N-tert*-butylsulfonyl cycloketimines **132**. The addition products **133** can be converted into cyclic enamines **134** via Rh₂(OAc)₄-catalyzed ring expansion (Scheme 93).^{155d} Meanwhile, a Lewis acid-catalyzed nucleophilic addition of diazoacetate to iminium ion has also been reported.¹⁵⁶

In a further study, Wang and co-workers have developed a stereoselective C—N addition of diazo group-containing anions



with a chiral auxiliary approach (Scheme 94).¹⁵⁷ Thus, the anion derived from the diazoamide **135**, which was bonded to Evans' chiral oxazolidinone auxiliary, added to *N*-tosylimine with high diastereoselectivity. In the optimized reaction conditions, high diastereoselectivity could be achieved for a series of imine substrates. The chiral auxiliary could be removed and the products were converted into *syn*- or *anti*- α -hydroxy- β -amino acid derivatives **136** or **137**.



An asymmetric catalytic version of this C==N bond addition has been recently achieved by Terada and co-workers with a chiral binaphthol monophosphoric acid **138**,¹⁵⁸ and by Maruoka and coworkers by using a chiral dicarboxylic acid **139** (Scheme 95).¹⁵⁹



The nucleophilic addition to C=O or C=N bonds by the enolates derived from β -keto α -diazocarbonyl compounds can also be achieved similarly. These nucleophilic additions have been incorporated as key steps in the synthetic methods for heterocycles.

Ti(IV) enolates **140** derived from α-diazo β-ketoesters react efficiently with aldehydes, but the reaction becomes sluggish when ketones are used as substrates. To activate the C=O group, Ti(OⁱPr)₄ was used as Lewis acid in the reaction. In this way, the corresponding nucleophilic addition occurred to various ketones. The addition products **141** were further converted into cyclic compounds **142** or **143** through a photoinduced Wolff rearrangement or Rh(II)-catalyzed insertion reactions (Scheme 96).¹⁶⁰ A similar addition products were similarly converted into γ -lactams or pyrroles.¹⁶¹



Padwa and co-workers have investigated the DABCO-promoted aldol-type reactions of the azido diazo dicarbonyl compounds **144** with aldehydes. The products, γ -azido- α -diazo- δ -hydroxy- β -keto esters **145** can be further converted into different compounds such as **146** and **147** (Scheme 97).¹⁶²



A further extension of this chemistry would be asymmetric catalysis in the above nucleophilic addition. It is conceivable that the Mukaiyama aldol addition with silyl enol ethers may be similarly applied.¹⁶³ Doyle and co-workers have explored such a possibility with enol ether **148** by using AgF/(R)-BINAP as a chiral catalyst. A moderately high level of enantioselectivity has been achieved (Scheme 98).^{163b}



On the other hand, there are other types of reactions that are related to diazo group-containing nucleophiles. The most notable is the addition of the anion derived from a diazophosphonate to aldehydes, which is the key step in the synthesis of terminal alkynes from aldehydes (Scheme 99).



A valuable modification of the original procedure, which utilizes dimethyl diazomethylphosphonate **149**, as shown in Scheme 99, is the use of more stable dimethyl-2-oxopropylphosphonate **150**.¹⁶⁴ More recently, the use of ROMPgel-supported ethyl 1-diazo-2-oxopropylphosphonate **151** has been reported.¹⁶⁵ In these cases, the diazophosphonate anion is generated by base-promoted deacetyl-ation. These diazo reagents have proved to be useful in natural product synthesis.¹⁶⁶ As a further extension, Taylor and co-workers have reported a one-pot conversion of activated alcohols into terminal alkynes using manganese dioxide in combination with **150**.¹⁶⁷



Ethyl diazoacetate has also been reported to undergo a Michael addition-type reaction to add to the β -carbon of α , β -unsaturated aldehydes **152**. The reaction was catalyzed by acid and gave cyclopropane derivatives **153** as the final products (Scheme 100).¹⁶⁸

9. Miscellaneous reactions

9.1. Diazocarbonyl compounds as 1,3-dipoles in [3+2] cycloaddition

The diazo group itself can act as a 1,3-dipole to add to a dipolarophile with retention of the nitrogen moiety. The cycloaddition reactions with electron-deficient olefins can occur in the absence of a catalyst in purely thermal conditions. This reaction has been an efficient procedure to synthesize pyrazolines (Scheme 101).¹⁶⁹



Recent studies on this type of 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition have focused on the development of stereoselective reactions. A chiral auxiliary-based approach has been reported by using dipolarophiles bearing chiral substituents. García Ruano and co-workers utilized chiral vinyl sulfoxide **154** as dipolarophile in 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions.¹⁷⁰ It was demonstrated that the chiral sulfinyl group was able to completely control the π -facial selectivity to give **155** in very high diastereoselectivity. Interestingly, the diastereoselectivity could be inverted in the presence of Lewis acids, with Yb(OTf)₃ being the most efficient. Chelation of the Yb(OTf)₃ with carbonyl oxygen and sulfinyl oxygen was considered to be responsible for the inversion of facial selectivity (Scheme 102).^{170d}



An asymmetric catalytic variant of this transformation has been a challenging problem, but progress has been made recently by Maruoka and co-workers. With catalytic chiral titanium BINOLate Lewis acids, (*S*)-BINOL/Ti($O^{i}Pr$)₄ (2:1) and bis{((*S*)-binaphthoxy)-(isopropoxy)titanium}oxide, high enantioselectivities were achieved in 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions between diazoacetate and α -substituted acroleins (Scheme 103).¹⁷¹

Electron-deficient alkynes also react with electron-rich diazo compounds such as diazomethane under mild conditions. This is an important method to prepare pyrazole derivatives. However, the reaction of less electron-rich α -diazocarbonyl compounds with electron-deficient alkynes usually requires activation by Lewis



acids. Jiang and Li have recently reported an intermolecular 1,3dipolar cycloaddition of diazocarbonyl compounds with alkynes by using an InCl₃-catalyzed cycloaddition in water (Scheme 104).¹⁷² The alkynes bearing a carbonyl group at the neighboring position reacted smoothly with ethyl diazoacetate (EDA) to give the pyrazole products **156** and **157** in good yields. However, phenylacetylene failed to react under the same conditions. This suggests that InCl₃ activates the alkynes by coordinating the carbonyl group and thus lowers the LUMO of the alkyne moiety.



For simple alkyl or aryl alkynes, the reaction with α -diazocarbonyl compounds usually fails and Lewis acid activation cannot be applied in such cases. An alternative mode of activation by raising the HOMO level of the alkyne was reported by Qi and Ready very recently.¹⁷³ Thus, the alkyne was converted into the copper(I) acetylide, which was then reacted with diazoacetate. The cycloaddition occurred smoothly to afford the pyrazole derivatives **158** in moderate to good yields (Scheme 105). The copper is suggested as an electron-donating group to raise the HOMO of the alkyne. The cycloaddition thus involves the LUMO level of the diazo compound. This is a rare example of an inverse electron demand cycloaddition.



Other developments in the reactions of diazo compounds as 1,3-dipoles include the reactions of 1,3-dipolarophiles with trime-thylsilyldiazomethane,¹⁷⁴ or with in situ generated aryldiazomethanes,¹⁷⁵ the reactions of conjugated nitroalkenes with the anion of diethyl 1-diazomethylphosphonate, generated in situ from diethyl 1-diazo-2-oxopropylphosphonate (Bestmann-Ohira reagent),¹⁷⁶ and a three-component reaction of in situ generated *N*-fluoropyridinium fluoride with isonitrile and diazo compound.¹⁷⁷

Arynes have also been used in the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition with diazo compounds. The reaction affords indazole derivatives that are pharmaceutically important compounds.¹⁷⁸ Recently, Jin and Yamamoto have developed a [3+2] cycloaddition of various diazomethane derivatives with arynes generated from silylaryl triflates **159** by treatment with KF or CsF (Scheme 106).¹⁷⁹ When only 0.5 equiv of diazo compounds were used in this reaction, the 1,3-dipolar addition product further reacted with arynes to yield **160**.

9.2. Dimerization, olefination, and oligomerization and polymerization of diazocarbonyl compounds

9.2.1. Dimerization of diazocarbonyl compounds

Although dimerization is normally regarded as an unwanted side reaction in transition metal-catalyzed reactions of diazocarbonyl compounds, it can be a quite useful and efficient route to



olefins. Many transition metal complexes, such as nickel, copper, iridium, osmium, tantalum, rhenium, and chromium complexes, have been shown to catalyze the generation of olefins from diazo compounds. When this reaction is used as a synthetic method for olefins, the cis/trans selectivity becomes a crucial issue.¹⁸⁰ Generally, the thermodynamically more stable trans isomer is predominant. Recently, Hodgson and co-workers have demonstrated that the highly cis selective heterocoupling of α -diazoacetates can be achieved by Grubbs' second-generation catalyst (Scheme 107).¹⁸¹



Li and Che have also obtained high cis selectivity in the coupling reactions of α -diazoacetates with their ruthenium porphyrin catalyst. This catalytic system was especially efficient in the synthesis of macrocyclic compounds bearing a *cis*-alkene motif, as demonstrated by a one-step synthesis of paulolide A **162** and B **163** from the corresponding bisdiazo compound **161** (Scheme 108).¹⁸²

9.2.2. Olefination of diazocarbonyl compounds

The olefination of aldehydes or ketones with diazo compounds is another important approach for constructing carbon–carbon double bonds, which avoids the need for stepwise generation of ylide precursors under basic conditions in a traditional Wittig reaction. The reaction is usually carried out in the presence of a phosphine, in most cases Ph₃P. When aldehydes are used as substrates, the olefins are usually produced with high selectivity for



Scheme 108.

the *E*-geometry. Since the first report by Herrmann and co-workers with MeReO₃ (methylrhenium trioxide, MTO) in 1991,^{183a} this area has been extensively studied and efficient catalytic olefination reactions with good stereoselectivity have been reported based on Re,^{183,184} Ru,¹⁸⁵ Rh,¹⁸⁶ Fe,¹⁸⁷ Cu,¹⁸⁸ and Co¹⁸⁹ complexes.

Depending on the metal complex, there are two different mechanistic pathways proposed for the olefination of aldehydes with diazo compounds (Scheme 109). In the first place, the metal carbene reacts with the carbonyl compound to form a metal oxo species, which is then reduced by the phosphorus reagent followed by the reaction with EDA to generate the metal carbene **165**, which reacts with aldehyde in a manner similar to olefin metathesis to afford the olefination product 166, with regeneration of the metal oxo species 164 (Path A). Alternatively, the metal carbene is first generated by the reaction of the metal complex with EDA. The phosphorus reagent attacks the metal carbene, forming a phosphorus ylide species 167 that reacts with carbonyl derivatives by a Wittig reaction (Path B). With electron spray mass spectrometry, NMR, and other spectroscopic methods, evidence to support both mechanisms has been obtained. It has been suggested that, in the reaction with methylrhenium trioxide (MTO) and similar rhenium oxides as catalysts, the reaction follows Path A, with a metallaoxetane as intermediate, ^{183,184} while in the reaction with iron and cobalt porphyrin, or Ru complexes as catalysts, Path B is followed, with generation of the phosphorus ylide.^{185,187,189} On the other hand, in the methylation of aldehyde by TMSCHN₂ with ClRh(PPh₃)₃ as catalyst, a different mechanism for the generation of the phosphorus ylide that does not involve a metal carbene is proposed.186b



A recent development is that reported by Tang, Zhou and co-workers on the olefination of ketenes with ethyl diazoacetate catalyzed by tetra(*p*-chlorophenyl)porphyrin iron chloride [Fe(TCP)CI].^{187h} This reaction could serve as an efficient synthesis of allenes. Moreover, when a chiral phosphine **168** was used instead of Ph₃P, the olefination occurred with high enantioselectivity (Scheme 110). This result confirmed that the mechanism involves ylide olefination.

Another recent observation is that, with ruthenium-based olefin metathesis catalysts, α , β -unsaturated aldehydes can be olefinated with diazoacetates in the presence of triphenylphosphine. Based on this result, a cross-metathesis/olefination tandem transformation of terminal olefins into 1,3-dienoic esters has been developed using a single ruthenium carbene complex **169** (Scheme 111).^{185d}



9.2.3. Oligomerization and polymerization of diazocarbonyl compounds

Polymerization with diazo compounds will generate polymers that contain polymer backbones consisting of one-carbon units. This is fundamentally different from the traditional vinyl polymerization, which generally produces polymers that contain carbon–carbon single bond units (Scheme 112). Although polymerization of diazoalkanes has been known for a long time, the polymerization of the more stable α -diazocarbonyl compounds has not been reported until very recently.

(a) vinyl polymerization

$$= \bigvee_{Y} \longrightarrow (X \times Y \times Y \times Y \times Y)$$

(b) carbene polymerization



Ihara, Inoue and co-workers have investigated the palladiummediated oligomerization of diazoacetates and related diazocarbonyl compounds. However, the viscous oils obtained with Pd-catalyzed polymerization with alkyl diazoacetates generally have low molecular weight and low selectivity (average degree of polymerization up to about ca. 100). A mechanism has been proposed for the polymerization process.¹⁹⁰ Oligomerization of alkyl diazoacetates with copper powder has also been reported.¹⁹¹

A recent breakthrough in this field is the report of an unprecedented stereoregular polymerization of ethyl diazoacetate, which gives a high molecular weight poly(ethyl 2-ylidene acetate) (120–165 kDa)(Scheme 113).¹⁹² The reaction is catalyzed by a series of new rhodium(I) complexes **170**. These new polymers with unique structure are expected to show special material properties.

Finally, Shea and co-workers have very recently investigated the polymerization of ethyl diazoacetate with BH₃. The polymerization



proceeds with the formation of an unusual homologated C-boron enolate.193

10. Concluding remarks

Although *a*-diazocarbonyl compounds have been studied for many years, it is clear from the various new developments published since 2003 that there is still much exciting undiscovered chemistry can be expected from this type of compounds. As transition metal carbene precursors, α -diazocarbonyl compounds continue to find application in organic synthesis, especially in asymmetric catalysis. Chiral Cu(I) and Rh(II) complexes developed in the past decades have been further proved to be effective in enantioselective carbene-transfer reactions, especially C-H insertion and cyclopropanation. As exemplified by the total synthesis of natural products in this review, these highly enantioselective reactions have reached the stage where they can serve as powerful tools in synthetic organic chemists' arsenal for constructing complex molecules. Asymmetric catalysis has also seen progress in other metal carbene-transfer reactions, such as ylide reactions, and O-H and N-H insertions. In addition, the tandem processes incorporating metal carbene-transfer reactions have been developed and have found applications in constructing complex structures from relatively simple starting materials by a single catalytic operation.

The search for new catalysts continues to be important in this field and several new catalysts have been found to be effective in the reactions with α -diazocarbonyl compounds. For the wellestablished catalysts, such as Rh(II) complexes, the design of novel ligands and the catalyst immobilization have been the major focus of attention in the past few years.

Noteworthy developments have been seen in areas other than those of the above-mentioned typical reactions for diazo compounds (insertion, cyclopropanation, ylide generation, etc.). These include polymerization, olefination, and the reactions in which diazo compounds serve as nucleophiles. These developments open new possibilities in this field.

Given the various achievements that have been made in the past few years, there is enough reason to expect more imaginative new applications of α -diazocarbonyl compounds to be forthcoming in the near future.

Acknowledgements

Financial support by the Natural Science Foundation of China and the Ministry of Education of China is greatly appreciated.

References and notes

1. For the reviews on α -diazocarbonyl compounds, see: (a) Ye. T.: McKervey, M. A. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 1091-1160; (b) Padwa, A.; Austin, D. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1797-1815; (c) Padwa, A.; Weingarten, M. D. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 223-269; (d) Doyle, M. P.; McKervey, M. A.; Ye, T. Modern Catalytic Methods for Organic Synthesis with Diazo Compounds; Wiley: New York, NY, 1998; (e) Doyle, M. P.; Forbes, D. C. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 911-935; (f) Padwa, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 617-618, 3-16; (g) Timmons, D. J.; Doyle, M. P. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 617-618, 98-104; (h) Hodgson, D. M.; Pierard, F. Y. T. M.; Stupple, P. A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2001, 30, 50-61; (i) Davies, H. M. L.; Antoulinakis, E. G. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 617-618, 47-55; (j) Davies, H. M. L.; Beckwith, R. E. J. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2861-2903; (k) Singh, G. S.; Mdee, L. K. Curr. Org. Chem. 2003, 7, 1821-1839; (1) Heydt, H. Sci. Synth. 2004, 27, 843–935; (m) Gois, P. M. P.; Afonso, C. A. M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 3773-3788; (n) Davies, H. M. L.; Nikolai, J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 4176-4187; (o) Singh, G. S. Curr. Org. Synth. 2005, 2, 377-391; (p) Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Pérez, P. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 5441-5450; (q) Wee, A. G. H. Curr. Org. Synth. 2006, 3, 499-555.

- 2. (a) Nicolau, K. C.; Baran, P. S.; Zhong, Y. L.; Choi, H. S.; Fong, K. C.; He, Y.; Yoon, W. H. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 883-886; (b) Aller, E.; Molina, P.; Lorenzo, Á Synlett 2000, 526-529; (c) Bio, M. M.; Javadi, G.; Song, Z. J. Synthesis 2005, 19-21.
- Cuevas-Yañez, E.; García, M. A.; de la Mora, M. A.; Muchowski, J. M.; Cruz-Almanza, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 4815–4817.
- (a) Charette, A. B.: Wurz, R. P.: Ollevier, T. I. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 9252-9254; (b) Wurz, R. P.; Lin, W.; Charette, A. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 8845-8848.
- 5. Harned, A. M.; Sherrill, W. M.; Flynn, D. L.; Hanson, P. R. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 12093-12099
- 6. Schroen, M.; Bräse, S. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 12186-12192.
- Taber, D. F.; Sheth, R. B.; Joshi, P. V. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2851–2854.
 Fulton, J. R.; Aggarwal, V. K.; de Vicente, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 1479–1492.
- 9 May, J. A.; Stoltz, B. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 12426-12427.
- 10. Furrow, M. E.; Myers, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12222-12223.
- Cuevas-Yañez, E.; Serrano, J. M.; Huerta, G.; Muchowski, J. M.; Cruz-Almanza, 11
 - R. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 9391–9396. 12. Toma, T.; Shimokawa, J.; Fukuyama, T. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3195–3197.
 - 13. Brodsky, B. H.; Du Bois, J. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2619-2621.
 - 14. For a recent review on Ru-catalyzed carbenoids cyclopropanation with diazo compounds, see: Maas, G. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2004, 33, 183-190.
 - 15. For the selected examples of Ru complex-catalyzed reaction of α -diazo carbonyl compounds, see: (a) Li, G.-Y.; Chen, J.; Yu, W.-Y.; Hong, W.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2153-2156; (b) Zhou, C.-Y.; Yu, W.-Y.; Chan, P. W. H.; Che, C.-M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 7072-7082; (c) Maux, P. L.; Abrunhosa, I.; Berchel, M.; Simonneaux, G.; Gulea, M.; Masson, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 2569-2573; (d) Ferrand, Y.; Maux, P. L.; Simonneaux, G. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3211-3214; (e) Xu, H.-W.; Li, G.-Y.; Wong, M.-K.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5349-5352; (f) Cornejo, A.; Fraile, J. M.; García, J. I.; Gil, M. J.; Martínez-Merino, V.; Mayoral, J. A.; Salvatella, L. Organometallics 2005, 24, 3448-3457; (g) Bonaccorsi, C.; Mezzetti, A. Organometallics 2005, 24, 4953-4960; (h) Wang, M.-Z.; Xu, H.-W.; Liu, Y.; Wong, M.-K.; Che, C.-M. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 2391-2396; (i) Bonaccorsi, C.; Santoro, F.; Gischig, S.; Mezzetti, A. Organometallics 2006, 25, 2002-2010; (j) Xiao, Q.; Wang, J. Acta Chim. Sinica 2007, 65, 1733-1735.
 - 16. For the selected examples of Co complex-catalyzed reaction of α-diazo carbonyl compounds, see: (a) Ikeno, T.; Iwakura, I.; Yabushita, S.; Yamada, T. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 517-520; (b) Huang, L.; Chen, Y.; Gao, G.-Y.; Zhang, X. P. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8179-8184; (c) Chen, Y.; Zhang, X. P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 2431-2435; (d) Chen, Y.; Fields, K. B.; Zhang, X. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14718-14719
 - 17. For the selected example of Cr complex-catalyzed reaction of α-diazo carbonyl compounds, see: Hahn, N. D.; Nieger, M.; Dötz, K. H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 1049-1056.
 - 18. For the selected example of Fe complex-catalyzed reaction of α-diazo carbonyl compounds, see: (a) Li, Y.; Huang, J.-S.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Che, C.-M.; You, X.-Z. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13185-13193; (b) Du, G.; Andrioletti, B.; Rose, E.; Woo, L. K. Organometallics 2002, 21, 4490-4495; (c) Edulji, S. K.; Nguyen, S. T. Organometallics 2003, 22, 3374-3381; (d) Aviv, I.; Gross, Z. Chem. Commun. 2006, 4477-4479
 - 19. For a recent review on Wolff rearrangement, see: Kirmse, W. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2193-2256
 - 20 (a) Dias, H. V. R.; Browning, R. G.; Polach, S. A.; Diyabalanage, H. V. K.; Lovely, C. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 9270-9271; (b) Thompson, J. L.; Davies, H. M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 6090-6091.
 - 21. For a recent review for gold catalysts in organic chemistry, see: Hashmi, A. S. K. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 3180-3211.
 - 22. Fructos, M. R.; Belderrain, T. R.; Frémont, P.; Scott, N. M.; Nolan, S. P.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Pérez, P. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5284-5288.
 - (a) Bröring, M.; Brandt, C. D.; Stellwag, S. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2344-2345; 23. (b) Greenman, K. L.; Van Vranken, D. L. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, 61, 6438–6441; (c) Devine, S. K. J.; Van Vranken, D. L. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2047-2049; (d) Peng, C.; Cheng, J.; Wang, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 8708-8709; (e) Barluenga, J.; Moriel, P.; Valde's, C.; Aznar, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 5587-5590; (f) Peng, C.; Wang, Y.; Wang, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 1566-1567.
 - 24. Fructos, M. R.; Belderrain, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Nolan, S. P.; Kaur, H.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Pérez, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10846-10847.
 - (a) Lou, Y.; Horikawa, M.; Kloster, R. A.; Hawryluk, N. A.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8916-8918; (b) Lou, Y.; Remarchuk, T. P.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14223-14230.
 - (a) Biffis, A.; Braga, M.; Cadamuro, S.; Tubaro, C.; Basato, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 26. 1841-1844; (b) Doyle, M. P.; Yan, M.; Gau, H.-M.; Blossey, E. C. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 561-563; (c) Forbes, D. C.; Patrawala, S. A.; Tran, K. L. T. Organometallics 2006, 25, 2693-2695; (d) Nagashima, T.; Davies, H. M. L. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1989-1992; (e) Davies, H. M. L.; Walji, A. M.; Nagashima, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4271-4280; (f) Davies, H. M. L.; Walji, A. M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2941-2944

27. Davies, H. M. L.; Manning, J. R. Nature 2008, 451, 417-424.

- 28. For recent examples of Rh(II) carbene C-H insertion in natural product synthesis, see: (a) Srikrishna, A.; Kumar, P. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1109–1111; (b) Spiegel, D. A.; Njardarson, J. T.; Wood, J. L. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 6545-6554; (c) Hinman, A.; Bois, J. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 11510-1511; (d) Kurosawa, W.; Kan, T.; Fukuyama, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2003**, 125, 8112–8113; (e) Kurosawa, W.; Kobayashi, H.; Kan, T.; Fukuyama, T. Tetrahedron **2004**, 60, 9615–9628; (f) Chavan, S. P.; Thakkar, M.; Kharul, R. K.; Pathak, A. B.: Bhosekar, G. V.: Bhadbhade, M. M. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 3873-3879; (g) Taber, D. F.; Frankowski, K. J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6417-6421; (h) Tambar, U. K.; Ebner, D. C.; Stoltz, B. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 11752– 11753; (i) Davies, H. M. L.; Dai, X.; Long, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 2485-2490.
- 29. (a) Andrei, M.; Romming, C.; Undheim, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 2711–2717; (b) Srikrishna, A.; Beeraiah, B.; Satyanarayana, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2006**, 17, 1544–1548; (c) Deng, G.; Tian, X.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 587–589; (d) Pattenden, G.; Blake, A. J.; Constandinos, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 1913-1915.
- (a) Clark, J. S.; Dossetter, A. G.; Wong, Y.-S.; Townsend, R. J.; Whittingham, W. G.; Russell, C. A. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3886–3898; (b) Wardrop, D. J.; Forslund, R. E.; Landrie, C. L.; Velter, A. I.; Wink, D.; Surve, B. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 929–940.
- 31. Berndt, D. F.; Norris, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 3961-3962.
- (a) Yoon, C. H.; Nagle, A.; Chen, C.; Gandhi, D.; Jung, K. W. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2259–2262;
 (b) Chen, Z.; Chen, Z.; Jiang, Y.; Hua, W. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 1579–1586;
 (c) Flanigan, D. L.; Yoon, C. H.; Jung, K. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 143-146; (d) Wee, A. G.; Duncan, S. C. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8372-8380; (e) Grohmann, M.; Buck, S.; Schäffler, L.; Maas, G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 2203-2211
- 33. (a) Swain, N. A.; Brown, R. C. D.; Bruton, G. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 122-129; (b) García-Muñoz, S.; Álvarez-Corral, M.; Jiménez-González, L.; López-Sánchez, C.; Rosales, A.; Muñoz-Dorado, M.; Rodríguez-García, I. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 12182-12190
- 34. Skerry, P. S.; Swain, N. A.; Harrowven, D. C.; Smyth, D.; Bruton, G.; Brown, R. C. D. Chem. Commun. 2004, 1772-1773.
- 35. Lall, M. S.; Ramtohul, Y. K.; James, M. N. G.; Vederas, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1536-1547.
- (a) Basak, A.; Mandal, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 4241-4243; (b) Wee, 36. A. G. H.; Duncan, S. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 6173-6176; (c) Gois, P. M. P.; Afonso, C. A. M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3798-3810; (d) See Ref. 32d.
- John, J. P.; Novikov, A. V. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 61-63.
- Shi, W.; Zhang, B.; Zhang, J.; Liu, B.; Zhang, S.; Wang, J. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3103-38. 3106
- (a) Cheung, W.-H.; Zheng, S.-L.; Yu, W.-Y.; Zhou, G.-C.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 39. 2003, 5, 2535-2538; (b) Choi, M. K.-W.; Yu, W.-Y.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1081-1084
- (a) Gois, P. M. P.; Afonso, C. A. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6571-6573; (b) 40. Candeias, N. R.; Gois, P. M. P.; Afonso, C. A. M. Chem. Commun. 2005, 391-393; (c) Candeias, N. R.; Gois, P. M. P.; Afonso, C. A. M. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5489-5497
- 41. (a) Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderraín, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Trofimenko, S.; Pérez, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 896-897; (b) Caballero, A.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderraín, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Trofimenko, S.; Pérez, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1446-1447; (c) Caballero, A.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderraín, T. R.; Trofimenko, S.; Pérez, P. J. Organometallics 2004, 22, 4145-4150.
- (a) Dias, H. V. R.; Browning, R. G.; Richey, S. A.; Lovely, C. J. Organometallics 42. 2004, 23, 1200-1202; (b) Urbano, J.; Belderraín, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Trofimenko, S.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Pérez, P. J. Organometallics 2005, 24, 1528-1532; (c) Braga, A. A. C.; Maseras, F.; Urbano, J.; Caballero, A.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Pérez, P. J. Organometallics 2006, 25, 5292-5300.
- Fructos, M. R.; Frémont, P. d.; Nolan, S. P.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Pérez, P. J. Organometallics 2006, 25, 2237-2241.
- 44. Hilt, G.; Galbiati, F. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2195-2198.
- 45. Liao, M.; Dong, S.; Deng, G.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 4537-4540.
- 46. Qu, Z.; Shi, W.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 217-219.
- (a) Lu, C.-D.; Liu, H.; Chen, Z.-Y.; Hu, W.-H.; Mi, A.-Q. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 83-86; (b) Huang, H.; Guo, X.; Hu, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1337-1339.
- Cenini, S.; Cravotto, G.; Giovenzana, G. B.; Palmisano, G.; Penoni, A.; Tollari, S. 48. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 3637-3640.
- 49. Morilla, M. E.; Molina, M. J.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderraín, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Trofimenko, S.; Pérez, P. J. Organometallics 2003, 22, 2914-2918.
- 50. Morilla, M. E.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderraín, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Trofimenko, S.; Pérez, P. J. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2998-2999.
- Yao, W.; Liao, M.; Zhang, X.; Xu, H.; Wang, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1784-1788.
- 52. Zhang, X.; Ma, M.; Wang, J. ARKIVOC 2003, II, 84-91.
- (a) Davis, F. A.; Fang, T.; Goswami, R. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1599-1602; (b) Davis, 53. F. A.; Yang, B.; Deng, J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 5147-5152; (c) Davis, F. A.; Deng, J. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 5111-5115; (d) Davis, F. A.; Wu, Y.; Xu, H.; Zhang, J. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4523-4525.
- 54. Burtoloso, A. C. B.; Correia, C. R. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 3355-3358.
- 55. Jung, J.-C.; Avery, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 7969-7972.
- 56. Williams, R. M.; Lee, B. H.; Miller, M. M.; Anderson, O. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 1073-1081.
- (a) Bagley, M. C.; Buck, R. T.; Hind, S. L.; Moody, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 57 1998, 591-600; (b) Davies, J. R.; Kane, P. D.; Moody, C. J. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 3967-3977.

- 58. (a) Davies, J. R.; Kane, P. D.; Moody, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7305-7316; (b) Palmer, F. N.; Lach, F.; Poriel, C.; Pepper, A. G.; Bagley, M. C.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Moody, C. J. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2005**, 3, 3805–3811.
- 59. Hughes, R. A.; Thompson, S. P.; Alcaraz, L.; Moody, C. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 15644-15651.
- 60. (a) Clapham, B.; Spanka, C.; Janda, K. D. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2173-2176; (b) Clapham, B.; Lee, S.-H.; Koch, G.; Zimmermann, J.; Janda, K. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 5407-5410.
- (a) Bashford, K. E.; Cooper, A. L.; Kane, P. D.; Moody, C. J.; Muthusamy, S.; Swann, E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 1672–1687; (b) Lee, S.-H.; Clapham, E.; Koch, G.; Zimmermann, J.; Janda, K. D. J. Comb. Chem. **2003**, 5, 188–196; (c) Yamazaki, K.; Kondo, Y. Chem. Commun. **2002**, 210–211; (d) Yamazaki, K.; Nakamura, Y.; Kondo, Y. J. Org. Chem. **2002**, 210–211; (d) Yamazaki, K.; Nakamura, Y.; Kondo, Y. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, 68, 6011–6019; (e) Nakamura, Y.; Ukita, T. Org. Lett. **2002**, 4, 2317–2320.
- (a) Lee, S.-H.; Clapham, B.; Koch, G.; Zimmermann, J.; Janda, K. D. Org. Lett. 62. 2003, 5, 511–514; (b) Matsushita, H.; Lee, S.-H.; Yoshida, K.; Clapham, B.; Koch, G.; Zimmermann, J.; Janda, K. D. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4627–4629; (c) Yamashita. M.; Lee, S.-H.; Koch, G.; Zimmermann, J.; Clapham, B.; Janda, K. D. Tetrahedron Lett 2005 46 5495-5498
- 63. For selected recent studies on chiral rhodium(II) carboxamidates in asymmetric C-H insertion, see: (a) Doyle, M. P.; Hu, W.; Valenzuela, M. V. J. Org. Chem. **2002**, 67, 2954–2959; (b) Doyle, M. P.; Yan, M.; Phillips, I. M.; Timmons, D. J. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2002, 344, 91–95; (c) Doyle, M. P.; Hu, W.; Wee, A. G. H.; Wang, Z.; Duncan, S. C. Org. Lett. **2003**, 5, 407–410; (d) Doyle, M. P.; Wang, Y.; Ghorbani, P.; Bappert, E. Org. Lett. **2005**, 7, 5035–5038; (e) Liu, W.-J.; Chen, Z.-L.; Chen, Z.-Y.; Hu, W.-H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2005**, 16, 1693–1698; (f) Wee, A. G. H.; Duncan, S. C.; Fan, G.-J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 297-307; (g) Fan, G.-J.; Wang, Z.; Wee, A. G. H. Chem. Commun. 2006, 3732-3734; (h) Bykowski, D.; Wu, K.-H.; Doyle, M. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 16038-16039
- 64. For selected recent studies on proline-based chiral rhodium(II) carboxylates in asymmetric C-H insertion, see: (a) Davies, H. M. L.; Venkataramani, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 2197-2199; (b) Davies, H. M. L.; Yang, J. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2003, 345, 1133-1138; (c) Davies, H. M. L.; Walji, A. M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 479-482; (d) Davies, H. M. L.; Jin, Q. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 941-949; (e) Davies, H. M. L.; Beckwith, R. E. J.; Antoulinakis, E. G.; Jin, Q. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6126-6132; (f) Davies, H. M. L.; Venkataramani, C.; Hansen, T.; Hopper, D. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2003**, 125, 6462–6468; (g) Davies, H. M. L.; Beckwith, R. E. J. J. Org. Chem. **2004**, 69, 9241–9247; (h) Davies, H. M. L.; Jin, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10862-10863; (i) Davies, H. M. L.; Hopper, D. W.; Hansen, T.; Liu, Q.; Childers, S. R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2004, 14, 1799-1802; (j) Davies, H. M. L.; Jin, Q. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1769-1772; (k) Davies, H. M. L.; Yang, J.; Nikolai, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 6111–6124; (l) Davies, H. M. L.; Ni, A. Chem. Commun. 2006, 3110–3112; (m) See Ref. 28i. (n) Davies, H. M. L.; Yang, J.; Manning, J. R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 665-673.
- 65. For selected recent studies on phthalimide derivatives of amino acid-based chiral rhodium(II) carboxylates in asymmetric C-H insertion, see: (a) Saito, H.; Oishi, H.; Kitagaki, S.; Nakamura, S.; Anada, M.; Hashimoto, S. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 3887-3890; (b) Tsutsui, H.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Kitagaki, S.; Nakamura, S.; Anada, M.; Hashimoto, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 817-821; (c) Chiu, P.; Zhang, X.; Ko, R. Y. Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 1531-1534; (d) Minami, K.; Saito, H.; Tsutsui, H.; Nambu, H.; Anada, M.; Hashimoto, S. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1483-1487; (e) Reddy, R. P.; Lee, G. H.; Davies, H. M. L. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3437-3440.
- Buck, R. T.; Coe, D. M.; Drysdale, M. J.; Ferris, L.; Haigh, D.; Moody, C. J.; 66. Pearsond, N. D.; Sanghera, J. B. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 791-816.
- 67. Ge, M.; Corey, E. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 2319-2321.
- 68. Maier, T. C.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 4594-4595.
- Liu, B.; Zhu, S.-F.; Zhang, W.; Chen, C.; Zhou, Q.-L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 69. 5834-5835.
- 70. For recent reviews on three-membered ring compounds, see: (a) Lebel, H.; Marcoux, J.-F.; Molinaro, C.; Charette, A. B. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 977-1050; (b) Rubin, M.; Rubina, M.; Gevorgyan, V. Synthesis 2006, 122-1245; (c) Rubin, M.; Rubina, M.; Gevorgyan, V. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 3117-3179.
- 71. For selected recent examples for cyclopropanation in total synthesis, see: (a) Taber, D. F.; Xu, M.; Hartnett, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13121-13126; (b) Yang, J.; Song, H.; Xiao, X.; Wang, J.; Qin, Y. Org. Lett. **2006**, *8*, 2187–2190; (c) Song, H.; Yang, J.; Chen, W.; Qin, Y. Org. Lett. **2006**, *8*, 6011–6014.
- 72. (a) Wurz, R. P.; Charette, A. B. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4531-4533; (b) Wurz, R. P.; Charette, A. B. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 1262-1269; (c) Wurz, R. P.; Charette, A. B. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2313-2316.
- Reissig, H.-H.; Zimmer, R. Chem. Rev. 2003, 203, 1151-1196.
- 74. Muthusamy, S.; Srinivasan, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 6297-6300.
- (a) Davies, H. M. L.; Stafford, D. G.; Doan, B. D.; Houser, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75. 1998, 120, 3326-3331; (b) Davies, H. M. L.; Hodges, L. M. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 5683-5689.
- 76. (a) Deng, L.; Giessert, A. J.; Gerlitz, O. O.; Dai, X.; Diver, S. T.; Davies, H. M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 1342-1343; (b) Ni, A.; France, J. E.; Davies, H. M. L. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5594–5598.
- 77. Kim, B. G.; Snapper, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 52-53.
- 78. Gawley, R. E.; Narayan, S. Chem. Commun. 2005, 5109-5111.
- 79. For an account, see: Doyle, M. P.; Hu, W. Synlett 2001, 1364-1370.
- Weathers, T. M., Jr.; Wang, Y.; Doyle, M. P. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 8183–8189.
 (a) Fillion, E.; Beingessner, R. L. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9485–9488; (b) Srikrishna, A.; Dinesh, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2203–2207;

(c) Renslo, A. R.; Gao, H.; Jaishankar, P.; Venkatachalam, R.; Gordeev, M. F. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2627-2630.

- 82. Crombie, A. L.; Kane, J. L., Jr.; Shea, K. M.; Danheiser, R. L. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 8652-8667.
- 83. For recent examples, see: (a) Caballero, A.; Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Trofimenko, S.; Belderrain, T. R.; Pérez, P. J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6101–6104; (b) Hahn, N.
 D.; Nieger, M.; Dötz, K. H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2004, 689, 2662–2673; (c) Hughes, C. C.; Kennedy-Smith, J. J.; Trauner, D. Org. Lett. **2003**, 5, 4113–4115.
- Yaday, J. S.: Reddy, B. V. S.: Satheesh, G. Tetrahedron Lett, 2003, 44, 8331-8334. 84 85. Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Gupta, M. K.; Prabhakar, A.; Jagadeesh, B. Chem. Commun. 2004. 2124-2125.
- 86. Rotzoll, S.; Appel, B.; Langer, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 4057-4059.
- Panne, P.; Fox, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 22-23. 87
- 88. Davies, H. M. L.; Lee, G. H. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1233-1236.
- Davies, H. M. L; Lee, G. H. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 217–2120.
 Davies, H. M. L; Venkataramani, C. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1403–1406.
- 91. (a) Weathers, T. M., Jr.; Doyle, M. P.; Carducci, M. D. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 449-455; (b) Doyle, M. P.; Weathers, T. M., Jr.; Wang, Y. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348 2403-2409
- 92. Hu, W.; Timmons, D. J.; Doyle, M. P. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 901–904.
- 93. Lin, W.; Charette, A. B. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1547-1552.
- Nowlan, D. T., III; Singleton, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6190–6191.
 Kirmse, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1088–1093.
- 96. Rasmussen, T.; Jensen, J. F.; Østergaard, N.; Tanner, D.; Ziegler, T.; Norrby, P.-O. Chem.—Eur. J. 2002, 8, 177-184.
- Rechavi, D.; Lemaire, M. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3467-3494. 97
- Bayardon, J.; Holczknecht, O.; Pozzi, G.; Sinou, D. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 98. 2006. 17. 1568-1572.
- Benaglia, M.; Benincori, T.; Mussini, P.; Pilati, T.; Rizzo, S.; Sannicolò, F. J. Org. 99 Chem. 2005, 70, 7488-7495.
- 100. Itagaki, M.; Masumoto, K.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3292-3295.
- 101. Zhang, W.; Xie, F.; Matsuo, S.; Imahori, Y.; Kida, T.; Nakatsuji, Y.; Ikeda, I. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 767-777.
- 102. Mazet, C.; Köhler, V.; Pfaltz, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4888-4891.
- 103. (a) Honma, M.; Sawada, T.; Fujisawa, Y.; Utsugi, M.; Watanabe, H.; Umino, A.; Matsumura, T.; Hagihara, T.; Takano, M.; Nakada, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2860-2861; (b) Honma, M.; Nakada, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 9007-9011; (c) Sawada, T.; Nakada, M. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1527-1532; (d) Takeda, H.; Nakada, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 2896-2906.
- 104. (a) Lyle, M. P. A.; Wilson, P. D. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 855-857; (b) Llewellyn, D. B.; Arndtsen, B. A. Organometallics 2004, 23, 2838-2840.
- 105. (a) Suenobu, K.; Itagaki, M.; Nakamura, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 7271-7280; (b) Tepfenhart, D.; Moisan, L.; Dalko, P. I.; Cossy, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 1781-1783.
- 106. (a) Beaufort, L.; Demonceau, A.; Noels, A. F. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 9025-9030; (b) Urbano, J.; Izarra, R.; Gómez-Ariza, J. L.; Trofimenko, S.; Díaz-Requejo, M.; Pérez, P. J. Chem. Commun. 2006, 1000-1002.
- 107 Sun, W.; Xia, C.-G.; Wang, H.-W. New J. Chem. 2002, 26, 755-758.
- 108. (a) See Ref. 15c; (b) See Ref. 15g; (c) Li, G.-Y.; Zhang, J.; Chan, P. W. H.; Xu, Z.-J.; Zhu, N.; Che, C.-M. Organometallics 2006, 25, 1676-1688; (d) See Ref. 15i; (e) see Ref. 15d.
- 109. See Ref. 18c.
- 110. See Refs. 16b-d.
- 111. Hahn, N. D.; Nieger, M.; Dötz, K. H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 1049-1056.
- 112. Wang, J. Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry III; Mingos, D. M. P., Crabtree, R. H., Eds.; Applications II: Transition Metal Compounds in Organic Synthesis 2; Elsevier: Oxford, 2007; Vol. 11, pp 151–178.
- 113. Crich, D.; Zou, Y.; Brebion, F. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 9172-9177.
- 114. Liao, M.; Wang, J. Green Chem. 2007, 9, 184-188.
- 115. Peng, L.; Zhang, X.; Ma, M.; Wang, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1905-1908. Ma, M.; Peng, L.; Li, C.; Zhang, X.; Wang, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 15016-116. 15017
- 117. For a review, see: Vanecko, J. A.; Wanb, H.; West, F. G. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 1043-1062.
- 118. (a) Ioannou, M.; Porter, M. J.; Saez, F. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 43-50; (b) Ellis-Holder, K. K.; Peppers, B. P.; Kovalevsky, A. Y.; Diver, S. T. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2511-2514; (c) Stepakov, A. V.; Molchanov, A. P.; Magull, J.; Vidovic, D.; Starova, G. L.; Kopfc, J.; Kostikov, R. R. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 3610-3618; (d) Zhu, S.; Xing, C.; Zhu, S. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 829-832.
- 119. Aggarwal, V. K.; Winn, C. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 611-620.
- 120. Murphy, G. K.; West, F. G. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4359-4361.
- 121. Clark, J. S.; Fessard, T. C.; Whitlock, G. A. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 73-78.
- 122. Muthusamy, S.; Krishnamurthia, J.; Suresh, E. Chem. Commun. 2007, 861-863.
- (a) Roberts, E.; Sançon, J. P.; Sweeney, J. B. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2075-2078; (b) 123. Vanecko, J. A.; West, F. G. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2949–2952.
- 124. (a) Wang, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Chen, Z.; Mi, A.; Hu, W.; Doyle, M. P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3923–3926; (b) Wang, Y.; Chen, Z.; Mi, A.; Hu, W. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2486– 2487; (c) Huang, H.; Wang, Y.; Chen, Z.; Hu, W. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 531-534.
- 125. For recent reviews, see: (a) Padwa, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 2005, 88, 1357-1374; (b) Padwa, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 5533-5540; For recent applications, see: (c) Hong, X.; Mejía-Oneto, J. M.; Padwa, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 8387-8390; (d) Mejía-Oneto, J. M.; Padwa, A. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3275-3278; (e) Hong, X.; Mejía-Oneto, J. M.; France, S.; Padwa, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 2409-2412; (f) Hong, X.; France, S.; Mejía-Oneto, J. M.; Padwa, A. Org. Lett.

2006. 8. 5141-5144; (g) Hong, X.: France, S.: Padwa, A. Tetrahedron 2007. 63. 5962-5976

- 126 (a) Nakamura, S.; Sugano, Y.; Kikuchi, F.; Hashimoto, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6532-6535; (b) Hirata, Y.; Nakamura, S.; Watanabe, N.; Kataoka, O.; Kurosaki, T.; Anada, M.; Kitagaki, S.; Shiro, M.; Hashimoto, S. Chem.-Eur. J. 2006, 12, 8898-8925; (c) Snider, B. B.; Wu, X.; Nakamura, S.; Hashimoto, S. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 873-874.
- 127. (a) Hodgson, D. M.; Angrish, D.; Labande, A. H. Chem. Commun. 2006, 627-628; (b) Hodgson, D. M.; Angrish, D. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 2509-2514.
- 128. (a) Oguri, H.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 47-50; (b) Looper, R. E.; Pizzirani, D.; Schreiber, S. L. Org, *Lett.* **2006**, *8*, 2063–2066; (c) Muthusamy, S.; Krishnamurthi, J.; Nethaji, M. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 3862–3864; (d) Anderson, R. L.; Raolii, G. B.; Kanazawa, A.; Greene, A. E. Org. Lett. 2005, 7. 2989-2991; (e) Muthusamy, S.; Gnanaprakasam, B. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 2305 - 2362; (f) Molchanov, A. P.; Diev, V. V.; Magull, J.; Vidovic, D.; Koz-hushkov, S. I.; Meijere, A. d.; Kostikov, R. R. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, 593–599.
- For recent examples, see: (a) Muthusamy, S.; Krishnamurthi, J.; Babu, S. A.; 129 Suresh, E. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 1252–1262; (b) Torssell, S.; Somfai, P. Adv. Synth. Catl. **2006**, *348*, 2421–2430; (c) Suga, H.; Ebiura, Y.; Fukushima, K.; Kakehi, A.; Baba, T. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 10782–10791; (d) Hamaguchi, M.; Tomida, N.; Iyama, Y.; Oshima, T. J. Org. Chem. **2006**, *71*, 5162–5170; (e) Hamaguchi, M.; Tomida, N.; Iyama, Y. J. Org. Chem. **2007**, *72*, 1326–1334.
- 130. Muthusamy, S.; Gnanaprakasam, B.; Suresh, E. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4577-4580.
- 131. For recent reports, see: (a) Suga, H.; Inoue, K.; Inoue, S.; Kakehi, A.; Shiro, M. J. Org. Chem. **2005**, 70, 47–56; (b) Suga, H.; Suzuki, T.; Inoue, K.; Kakehi, A. Tetrahedron **2006**, 62, 9218–9225.
- 132. Ruano, J. L. G.; Fraile, A.; Martín, M. R.; Neúñz, A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6536-6541.
- 133. Son, S.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 1046-1047.
- (a) See Ref. 15e; (b) See Ref. 15h; (c) Galliford, C. V.; Martenson, J. S.; Stern, C.; 134. Scheidt, K. A. Chem. Commun. 2007, 631-633; (d) Galliford, C. V.; Scheidt, K. A. I. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 1811–1813.
- 135. Krishnamoorthy, P.; Browning, R. G.; Singh, S.; Sivappa, R.; Lovely, C. J.; Dias, H. V. R. Chem. Commun. 2007, 731-733.
- 136 (a) Jiang, N.; Ma, Z.; Qu, Z.; Xing, X.; Xie, L.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 893-900; (b) Shi, W.; Jiang, N.; Zhang, S.; Wu, W.; Du, D.; Wang, J. Org. Lett. **2003**, 5, 2243-2246; (c) Shi, W.; Xiao, F.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. **2005**, 70, 4318-4322; (d) Xiao, F.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5789-5791.
- 137. Vitale, M.; Lecourt, T.; Sheldon, C. G.; Aggarwal, V. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128. 2524-2525.
- 138. Xu, F.; Shi, W.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4191-4194.
- 139. Xu, F.; Zhang, S.; Wu, X.; Liu, Y.; Shi, W.; Wang, J. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3207-3210.
- 140. For recent examples, see: (a) Mander, L. N.; McLachlan, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2400-2401; (b) Lee, D. J.; Kim, K. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 4867-4869; (c) Snyder, S. A.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 740-742; (d) Mascitti, V.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15664-15665; (e) Mascitti, V.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 3118-3119; (f) Thijs, L.; Zwanenburg, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 60, 5237-5252.
- 141. Sarpong, R.; Su, J. T.; Stoltz, B. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 13624-13625.
- 142. (a) Jiao, L.; Zhang, Q.; Liang, Y.; Zhang, S.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 815-818; (b) Liang, Y.; Jiao, L.; Zhang, S.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 334-337; (c) Jiao, L.; Liang, Y.; Xu, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6060-6069; (d) Wang, Y.; Liang, Y.; Jiao, L.; Du, D. M. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6983-6990; (e) Li, B.; Wang, Y.; Xu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 990-997.
- 143. Dalton, A. M.; Zhang, Y.; Davie, C. P.; Danheiser, R. L. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2465-2468.
- 144. Austin, W. F.; Zhang, Y.; Danheiser, R. L. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3905-3908.
- 145. (a) Sudrik, S. G.; Maddanimath, T.; Chaki, N. K.; Chavan, S. P.; Chavan, S. P.; Sonawane, H. R.; Vijayamohanan, K. P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2355-2358; (b) Sudrik, S. G.; Sharma, J.; Chavan, V. B.; Chaki, N. K.; Sonawane, H. R.; Vijayamohanan, K. P. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1089-1092.
- 146. For selected reports on mechanistic study on Wolff rearrangement, see: (a) Julian, R. R.; May, J. A.; Stoltz, B. M.; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4478-4486; (b) Chiang, Y.; Gaplovsky, M.; Kresge, A. J.; Leung, K. H.; Ley, C.; Mac, M.; Persy, G.; Philips, D. L.; Popik, V. V.; Rödig, C.; Wirz, J.; Zhu, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 12872-12880; (c) Bogdanova, A.; Popik, V. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 14153-14162; (d) Chang, J. A.; Chiang, Y.; Keeffe, J. R.; Kresge, A. J.; Nikolaev, V. A.; Popik, V. V. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 4460-4467.
- 147. (a) Urdabayev, N. K.; Popik, V. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4058-4059; (b) Mizokuro, T.; Mochizuki, H.; Tanigaki, N.; Hiraga, T. Polym. Adv. Technol. 2006, 17.841-844.
- 148. Goodwin, A. P.; Mynar, J. L.; Ma, Y.; Fleming, G. R.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9952-9953.
- 149. For a recent account, see: Zhao, Y.; Wang, J. Synlett 2005, 2886-2892.
- 150. Bug, T.; Hartnagel, M.; Schlierf, C.; Mayr, H. Chem.-Eur. J. 2003, 9, 4068-4076. (a) Jiang, N.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1285–1287; (b) Xiao, F.; Liu, Y.; 151.
- Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1147-1149. 152. (a) Arai, S.; Hasegawa, K.; Nishida, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 1023-1026;
- (b) Hasegawa, K.; Arai, S.; Nishida, A. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 1390-1401; (c) Varala, R.; Enugala, R.; Nuvula, S.; Adapa, S. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 877-880.
- 153. Dudley, M. E.; Morshed, M. M.; Brennan, C. L.; Islam, M. S.; Ahmad, M. S.; Atuu, M.-R.; Branstetter, B.; Hossain, M. M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 7599-7608.
- 154. Yao, W.; Wang, J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1527-1530.
- (a) See Ref. 136a. (b) Zhao, Y.; Jiang, N.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 155. 8339-8342; (c) Zhao, Y.; Jiang, N.; Chen, S.; Peng, C.; Zhang, X.; Zou, Y.; Zhang,

S.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 6546-6552; (d) Chen, S.; Zhao, Y.; Wang, J. Synthesis 2006, 1705-1710.

- 156. (a) Cainelli, G.; Giacomini, D.; Galletti, P.; Quintavalla, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1765-1774; (b) Broccolo, F.; Cainelli, G.; Caltabiano, G.; Cocuzza, C. E. A.; Fortuna, C. G.; Galletti, P.; Giacomini, D.; Musumarra, G.; Musumeci, R.; Quintavalla, A. J. Med. Chem. 2006, 49, 2804–2811.
- 157. Zhao, Y.; Ma, Z.; Zhang, X.; Zou, Y.; Jin, X.; Wang, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43 5977-5980
- 158. Uraguchi, D.; Sorimachi, K.; Terada, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9360-9361.
- 159. Hashimoto, T.; Maruoka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 10054-10055. 160. (a) See Ref. 29c: (b) See Ref. 45.
- 161. Dong, C.; Deng, G.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5560-5564.
- 162. Sá, M. M.; Silveira, G. P.; Bortoluzzia, A. J.; Padwa, A. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 5441-5447.
- 163. (a) Doyle, M. P.; Kundu, K.; Russell, A. F. Org. Lett. 2005. 7, 5171-5174; (b) Kundu, K.: Dovle, M. P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 574–577.
- 164. Roth, G. J.; Bernd, L.; Müller, S. G.; Bestmann, H. J. Synthesis 2004, 59-62.
- 165. Barrett, A. G. M.; Hopkins, B. T.; Love, A. C.; Tedeschi, L. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 835-837.
- (b) Xu, Z; Peng, Y; Ye, T. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2821–2824; (c) Marshall, J. A.; Schaaf, G. M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 7428-7432; (d) Maehr, H.; Uskokovic, M. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 1703-1713.
- 167. Quesada, E.; Taylor, R. J. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6473-6476.
- 168. Branstetter, B.; Hossain, M. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 221-223.
- 169. (a) Jung, M. E.; Min, S.-J.; Houk, K. N.; Ess, D. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 9085-9089; (b) Simovic, D.; Di, M.; Marks, V.; Chatfield, D. C.; Rein, K. S. J. Org. Chem. 2007. 72. 650-653.
- (a) García Ruano, J. L.; Diego, S. A. A. d.; Martín, M. R.; Torrente, E.; Castro, A. 170. M. M. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4945-4948; (b) Garcia Ruano, J. L.; Alonso, M.; Fraile, A.; Martin, R.; Peromingo, M. T.; Tito, A. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 2005, 180, 1441-1442; (c) Garcia Ruano, J. L.; Gonzalez Gutierrez, L.; Torrente, E.; Yuste, F.; Martin Castro, A. M. ARKIVOC 2005, IX, 146-158; (d) Ruano, J. L. G.; Peromingo, M. T.; Alonso, M.; Fraile, A.; Martín, M. R.; Tito, A. J. Org. Chem. 2005. 70. 8942-8947.
- 171. Kano, T.; Hashimoto, T.; Maruoka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 2174-2175.
- 172. Jiang, N.; Li, C.-J. Chem. Commun. 2004, 394-395.
- 173. Qi, X.; Ready, J. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3306-3308.
- 174. See Ref. 169b.
- 175. Aggarwal, V. K.; Vicente, J. d.; Bonnert, R. V. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 5381-5383.
- 176. Muruganantham, R.; Mobin, S. M.; Namboothiri, I. N. N. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1125-1128
- 177. Kiselyov, A. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 2631-2634.
- 178. Shoji, Y.; Hari, Y.; Aoyama, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 1769-1771.
- 179. Jin, T.; Yamamoto, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3387-3389.
- 180. For a recent example for the study on cis/trans selectivity in Ru-catalyzed reaction of EDA, see: Graban, E.; Lemke, F. R. Organometallics 2002, 21, 3823-3826.

- 181. (a) Hodgson, D. M.; Angrish, D. Chem. Commun. 2005, 4902-4904; (b) Hodgson, D. M.; Angrish, D. Chem.-Eur. J. 2007, 13, 3470-3479.
- 182. Li, G.-Y.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1621-1623.
- (a) Herrmann, W. A.; Wang, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 1641– 1643; (b) Herrmann, W. A.; Olefins from Aldehydes in Applied Homogeneous Catalysis with Organometallic Compounds, 2nd ed.; Wiley VCH: Weinheim, 2002; Vol. 3, pp 1078-1086.
- 184. (a) Zhang, X.; Chen, P. Chem.-Eur. J. 2003, 9, 1852-1859; (b) Harrison, R.; Mete, A.; Wilson, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6621-6624; (c) Santos, A. M.; Romão, C. C.; Kühn, F. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2003**, 125, 2414–2415; (d) Santos, A. M.; Pedro, F. M.; Yogalekar, A. A.; Lucas, I. S.; Romão, C. C.; Kühn, F. E. Chem.—Eur. J. 2004, 10, 6313–6321; (e) Kühn, F. E.; Scherbaum, A.; Herrmann, W. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2004, 689, 4149-4164; (f) Pedro, F. M.: Hirner, S.: Kühn, F. E. Tetrahedron Lett. **2005**, 46, 7777–7779.
- 185. (a) Lebel, H.; Paquet, V. Organometallics **2004**, 23, 1187–1190; (b) Sun, W.; Yu, B.: Kühn, F. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 1993–1996: (c) Pedro, F. M.: Santos, A. M.; Baratta, W.; Kühn, F. E. Organometallics 2007, 26, 302-309; (d) Murelli, R. P.; Snapper, M. L. Org. Lett. **2007**, 9, 1749–1752.
- (a) Lebel, H.; Guay, D.; Paquet, V.; Huard, K. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3047–3050; (b) Lebel, H.; Paquet, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 320–328; (c) Zhu, S.; Liao, Y.; Zhu, S. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 377–380; (d) Nandra, G. S.; Pang, P. S.; Porter, M. J.; Elliott, J. M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3453-3455.
- 187. (a) Mirafzal, G. A.; Cheng, G.; Woo, L. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 176-177; (b) Cheng, G.; Mirafzal, G. A.; Woo, L. K. Organometallics 2003, 22, 1468-1474; (c) Agarwal, V. K.; Fulton, J. R.; Sheldon, C. G.; Vicente, J. d. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 6034–6035; (d) Chen, Y.; Huang, L.; Ranade, M. A.; Zhang, X. P. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 3714–3717; (e) Chen, Y.; Huang, L.; Zhang, X. P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2493-2496; (f) Chen, Y.; Huang, L.; Zhang, X. P. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 5925–5929; (g) Sun, W.; Kühn, F. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 7415–7418; (h) Li, C.-Y.; Wang, X.-B.; Sun, X.-L.; Tang, Y.; Zheng, J.-C.; Xu, Z.-H.; Zhou, Y.-G.; Dai, L.-X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2007**, 129, 1494–1495.
- 188. (a) Pang, W.; Zhu, S.; Jiang, H.; Zhu, S. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 11760-11765; (b) Lebel, H.; Davi, M.; Díez-González, S.; Nolan, S. P. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 144-149
- 189. Lee, M.-Y.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, X. P. Organometallics 2003, 22, 4905-4909.
- 190 (a) Ihara, E.; Haida, N.; Iio, M.; Inoue, K. Macromolecules 2003, 36, 36-41; (b) Ihara, E.; Fujioka, M.; Haida, N.; Itoh, T.; Inoue, K. Macromolecules 2005, 38, 2101-2108; (c) Ihara, E.; Nakada, A.; Itoh, T.; Inoue, K. Macromolecules 2006, 39, 6440-6444; (d) Ihara, E.; Kida, M.; Fujioka, M.; Haida, N.; Itoh, T.; Inoue, K. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2007, 45, 1536-1545.
- 191. Liu, L.; Song, Y.; Li, H. Polym. Int. 2002, 51, 1047-1049.
- (a) Hetterscheid, D. G. H.; Hendriksen, C.; Dzik, W. I.; Smits, J. M. M.; Eck, E. R. 192. H. v.; Rowan, A. E.; Busico, V.; Vacatello, M.; Castelli, V. V. A.; Segre, A.; Jellema, E.; Bloemberg, T. G.; Bruin, B. d. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 9746-9752; (b) Noels, A. F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1208-1210.
- 193. Bai, J.; Burke, L. D.; Shea, K. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 4981-4991.

Biographical sketch



Zhenhua Zhang was born in 1982 in Guangzhou, China. He graduated from South China University of Technology in 2005 before moving to Peking University, where he is currently carrying out his Ph.D. studies under the supervision of Professor Jianbo Wang. His research has focused on the development of new methodology based on palladium-catalyzed reactions of diazo compounds. **Jianbo Wang** was born in 1962 in Zhejiang, China. He received his B.S. degree from Nanjing University of Science and Technology in 1983 and his Ph.D. from Hokkaido University (under the supervision of Prof. H. Suginome) in 1990. He was a postdoctoral associate at the University of Geneva from 1990 to 1993 (with Prof. C. W. Jefford) and University of Wisconsin-Madison from 1993 to 1995 (with Prof. H. E. Zimmerman and F. A. Fahien). He began his independent academic career at Peking University in 1995. His research interests include catalytic metal carbene transformations, radical reactions, and photochemistry.